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Homes North acknowledges that Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people are the traditional 
owners of the land upon which we work and live 

across the New England North West, and we 
pay our respects to elders past and present.
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Providers are located in the regions they serve and understand the local context. 

Community housing aims to deliver social and financial outcomes.  
As tightly regulated and ethically managed organisations, our 
profits are reinvested to improve local services and increase the 
range and types of housing we can offer.

Compared to the general community, tenants in community 
housing are more likely to face some form of disadvantage, like 
unemployment or a disability. In addition to delivering safe and 
secure homes, we help clients stabilise their lives, maintain their 
tenancies and engage with their communities. We successfully 
partner with a wide variety of organisations to provide vital and 
highly valued support services to clients. 

In 2015 the NSW Government introduced Future Directions for 
Social Housing, a blue print for the next ten years that emphasises 
tenant outcomes.  The aims of Future Directions are to “reduce 
homelessness, provide more housing and support for those 
needing social housing and provide more support to help 
people divert from or successfully transition out of the social 
housing system.” Over the next few years the Government will be 
transferring some of its tenancy management and applications 
functions in some locations to community housing providers. This 
offers a great opportunity for community housing to strengthen 
their positive impact on people’s lives.

Homes North continues to develop our relationships and working 
partnerships with investors, property developers, government and 
other partners to deliver new housing. These bring together land, 
funding and expertise which is difficult for any single partner to 
assemble alone. 

Community Housing - focusing on people
Community housing is a ‘people centred’ industry that provides high quality rental housing to low to medium income earners 

Tax exemptions, which include GST,
land tax and stamp duty

Land contributions from local and 
state government

Land use and planning arrangements
which provide incentives for including 
a�ordable housing.

Our competitive advantages:

[The Community Housing Industry – delivering for NSW, document produced by the NSW 
Federation of Housing Associations, Inc., available at: 
http://www.communityhousing.org.au/icp/Industry%20Capability%20Statement_Concise.pdf ]

Like other property owners, we can also take out loans against 
our assets. As a Not For Profit we use this capacity to further our 
mission to increase the number of Community Housing properties 
available for the community.

Community Housing is a growing industry with the potential to offer 
private investors secure returns. 

The government is showing a strong commitment to supporting 
the growth in the Community Housing sector. With general housing 
affordability decreasing community housing will play an even more 
pivotal role. It will also be working to change community perception 
of social housing to reimagine it as a positive and dynamic option 
for our more vulnerable and disadvantaged tenants.

At Homes North we pride ourselves on: 
Strengthening Communities, Supporting Individuals 
and Providing Excellent Service, and we are 
preparing ourselves for the next stage of growth.4 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



Our Values
Integrity we treat our tenants, partners, and stakeholders with 
empathy and respect 

Professionalism we maintain high standards as individuals, and 
as an organisation, and constantly strive for improvement 

Respect we will continue to be an employer of choice, showing 
respect and loyalty to our staff who deliver excellent service to 
tenants, partners and communities

Our Mission
• To work with individuals and the community across a promotion to prevention 

continuum that focusses on building strengths and reducing vulnerabilities

• To take a long term and intergenerational outlook to positively change cycles 
of disadvantage, exclusion and isolation

• To provide a secure home that takes into account the physical, social and 
economic environment

• To ensure true security is achieved for individuals when there is a harmony 
and resilience existing across each of these dimensions

Our Vision
• Homes for the wellbeing of our community.

• Every community member on low to moderate 
income in the New England North West 
region has a secure place to call home, 
which they can independently sustain into the 
foreseeable future. 

Our Vision, Mission and Values
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Our History 
of Growth

• Create secure, affordable and sensitively 
managed housing opportunities for 
low income households, regardless of 
race, creed, colour, gender or sexual 
orientation. 

• Encourage the support of all levels of 
government for the development and 
expansion of Community based non-
profit housing programmes. 

• Take up equity in properties wherever 
possible. 

• Identify unused publicly owned 
properties and bring these under 
the Company’s management where 
appropriate. 

• Work for the prevention of the further 
loss of accommodation for low income 
earners and the associated escalation in 
accommodation costs which is causing 
dispossession and displacement of these 
people. 

Our Company Objectives
• Raise public awareness and 

understanding of the social contexts 
within which people become homeless 
or poorly housed.

• Encourage the involvement of tenants in 
the management of their own housing. 

• Focus on the housing needs of those 
population groups discriminated against 
in the private rental market and/ or 
excluded from other public housing 
programmes. 

• Inform, assist and co-operate with 
other organisations and with all levels 
of government concerned with housing 
issues. 

• Liaise with and complement existing 
housing provision and housing support 
services. 

Strive for: 
1. a just and equitable distribution of, and 

access to, housing resources in NSW; 

2. community and consumer involvement, 
participation and representation in 
planning and implementing housing 
policies; 

3. an integrated approach to housing 
and human settlement including 
consideration of necessary facilities, 
amenities, opportunities and community 
supports. 

* Number of Properties: 1992 - 2016
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“Since moving back to Armidale and moving into my unit 
I have enjoyed the communication with the staff at Homes 
North. I am also enjoying the contact with people here and 

the forming of a resident group.”

Anonymous quote from our Tenant Survey 
{ {

Providing services to specific groups in housing need within the region
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CANBERRA

TENTERFIELD

46
PROPERTIES

DUBBO

SYDNEY

MOREE

57
PROPERTIESLIGHTNING RDG

3
PROPERTIES

INVERELL

43
PROPERTIES

GLEN INNES

106
PROPERTIES

ARMIDALE

231
PROPERTIES

GUNNEDAH

165
PROPERTIES

TAMWORTH

370
PROPERTIES Our

Region

S t r o n g  r e g i o n a l  c o m m u n i t i e s  t h r o u g h  t h e  p r o v i s i o n  o f  h i g h  q u a l i t y  h o u s i n g  s e r v i c e s

Homes North covers the New 
England North West region, 

with offices located in Armidale, 
Glen Innes, Gunnedah, Inverell, 

Moree and Tamworth. 
1021 properties and counting
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Our Portfolio
As at 30 June 2016 Homes North managed 1021 properties across the New England North West region under a range of programmes. The 
Department of Family and Community Services, Land and Housing Corporation, currently funds much of Homes North’s portfolio. 

The portfolio can be broken down under the following programme areas:

447 Capital Properties:  
The capital programme allows 
Community Housing providers to lease 
Land and Housing Corporation owned 
properties, and sublet to eligible 
clients. Homes North collects all rents 
and pays all expenses associated 
with the properties and is responsible 
for all aspects of long-term asset 
maintenance planning.

250 Stimulus Properties:  
These are properties where title was transferred from 
Land and Housing Corporation to Homes North for the 
express purpose of providing Homes North with the 
capacity to leverage against the transferred assets 
to procure additional social housing. Caveats on title 
require that these properties are used for the purpose 
of social housing.

190 Leasehold 
Properties:  
The leasehold 
programme provides a 
subsidy for Homes North 
to rent in the private 
market and then sublet to 
a low income households 
at a reduced rent.

88 Fee for Service Properties: 
Fee for Service Properties: Homes North 
has contracts where it provides tenancy 
and property management services 
on a fee-for-service basis. This arm is 
managed separately from our community 
housing portfolio and caters to the 
client organisations. These services 
are only provided to organisations 
providing social and affordable housing, 
and include: Aboriginal Housing Office 
(Employment Related Accommodation), 
Mara Mara Community Inc, Tamworth 
Local Aboriginal Lands Council, Uniting 
Care Ageing and 10 National Rental 
Affordability Scheme properties.

27 Land and Housing Affordable Properties: 
Land and Housing Corporation Affordable 
Properties: This affordable housing programme is 
a partnership with Family and Community Services 
and allows households on low to moderate 
incomes to pay rent at 20% less than the market 
rate . The properties are located in areas with a 
high concentration of social housing. The aim of 
the project is to encourage a greater diversity of 
residents within these localities. Tenants in this 
programme also use the discounted rent to assist 
them to save to purchase their own home.

19 Homes North 
Freehold Properties: 
Homes North Freehold 
Properties: These are 
properties that are owned 
by Homes North which have 
either been acquired or 
developed by leveraging 
assets transferred via 
the Stimulus programme. 
The properties are let 
to households on low to 
moderate incomes, who 
pay rent at 20% less than 
the market rate so that they 
are also able to meet other 
basic costs of living without 
experiencing “rental stress” 
(paying more than 30% of their 
income on rent).

44%
25%

19%

9%
3%

2%
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The Housing Alliance is a strong alliance of comparable regional 
housing organisations who through collaboration, innovation and 
sharing, strengthen their delivery of services at a local level.

The Housing Alliance offers a vision to the greater community 
housing sector of an innovative redefinition of a sector culture 
based on trust and focused on collaboration over competition.  
The Housing Alliance is consciously structured to be based on 
the values of community and collegiality. 

Stronger than a ‘partnership,’ but stopping short of a merger, the 
Housing Alliance’s member organisations, when taken together, 
become one of the largest Community Housing Providers in the 
country by number of tenancies managed (approximately 2,800).  

The Housing Alliance synergies are that all organisations provide 
community housing services in regional NSW locations, all have 
operations spanning large geographic areas with multi-site 
offices, all are registered as mid-size Class 1 or 2 providers 
within the sector.

During the year Homes Out West made the strategic decision to 
align their organisation more closely with opportunities within 
their region and allowed their membership of the Housing 
Alliance to lapse and the end of the 2014/15 financial year.

The Housing Alliance is a mechanism that allows the members 
to remain viable, independent and anchored within their local 
communities while reaping some of the benefits of scale and a 
larger operation.

Innovation

The Housing Alliance
Vision 
A strong alliance of comparable regional housing organisations who, through collaboration, innovation and 
sharing, strengthen their delivery of services at a local level and are respected thought leaders.

Purpose 
To share knowledge and build virtual capacity. Consultancy, legal, technical and other costs can be spread 
across three organisations. This builds a culture of strategic agility with alliance members to effectively respond 
and innovate for regional solutions to housing need. There are five key objectives for the Housing Alliance's 
current business plan with appropriate governance of the Housing Alliance being a core tenet of the plan.

GOVERNANCE

Innovation

Best p
ractic

e

servic
e delive

ry

through networking

Evidence

basedresearch

Advocacy/

Representation

homes | lives | communities

Homes North has achieved many of our goals through joint activities with our Housing Alliance partners
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Contribution by Karen Andrew
Karen Andrew, one of the founding CEO’s of the Housing 
Alliance resigned from Housing Plus in 2016 to pursue new 
business opportunities. Karen dedicated more than 30 years to 
Community Housing and Housing Plus.  

We would like to thank Karen and acknowledge the significant 
contribution she has made to the Housing Alliance since its 
inception in 2010. Karen has been a staunch advocate for 
regional services and saw the Housing Alliance as an innovative 
structure to preserve regional service delivery and jobs. 

Key Achievements 2015/16
• Commenced development of the Australian Social Value Bank.

• Established a new Company, Alliance Social Enterprises, for 
Housing Alliance joint ventures such as the Australian Social 
Value Bank.

• Commenced joint development of a social impact investment 
product with the assistance of consultants The Difference 
Incubator and NAB.

• Joint growth readiness planning.

• Joint scenario planning.

• Appointed a Marketing & Administration Coordinator to assist 
the CEO’s.

• Commenced work on the Housing Alliance Indigenous 
Engagement Plan.

• Implemented a Joint Business Development Framework.

• Continued joint practice sharing and policy and procedure 
development.

• Cost sharing of consultants and advisors.

Housing Alliance representatives with Daniel Fujiwara, Director of Simetrica, 
at the launch of the Australian Social Value Bank in Sydney.

Tell us about the positive 
social outcome

For how 
many people

How much it’s 
costing you

Australian Social Value 
Bank calculates the rest.
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Social Value Bank for Australia
One of the key objectives of the Housing Alliance is innovation. We 
believe that by pooling our resources and skills we can achieve much 
more than we can as individual organisations.

The development of a Social Value Bank for Australia by the Housing 
Alliance is a great example of the two concepts of innovation and 
collaboration in action.

The philosophy behind a social value bank aligns strongly with Housing 
Alliance members.

The Australian Social Value Bank (ASVB) aims to reframe the way social 
programmes are designed and evaluated and puts wellbeing outcomes 
for the community front and centre.

The genesis of an Australian Social Value Bank came about during a study 
tour of the UK undertaken by Housing Alliance CEOs in late 2014. Having 
seen how the bank works in the UK the CEOs decided to find out if the 
product could be developed for Australia, with positive results!

The Housing Alliance, through our Company Alliance Social Enterprises, 
has partnered with Simetrica, the developer of the UK Social Value 
Bank, to bring an equivalent product to Australia. Daniel Fujiwara is 
the eminently qualified Director of Simetrica, and in mid-2016 travelled 
to Australia to introduce the Social Value Bank concept and present a 
masterclass on measuring social impact.

 The Housing Alliance’s development of the bank reflects our values 
with the aim to make the bank widely accessible. Overtime it will have 
an extensive and comprehensive list of wellbeing values. By expanding 
the values in the bank the ASVB will become applicable to a wide range 
of industries, profit and not-for-profit, and Government. Through this 
widespread use the bank has the potential to foster more targeted 
service delivery and philanthropic activities, by taking better account of 
the wellbeing of individuals within financial decision making processes.



This year it’s again my pleasure and 
privilege to be addressing you as the 
Chairperson of Homes North Community 
Housing (Homes North).  

The 2015-2016 year has been another year 
of success and growth on many levels and 
as we step into our new Strategic Plan of 
2016-2020 our organisation continues to 
strengthen.  We strive to have the client 
as our main focus whilst making strategic 
decisions at board level.  I for one, am 
always warmed by the positive outcomes I 
hear from the clients and the community.

Our strategic focus for the coming years 
hinges predominately on the State 
Government’s new Social Housing policy 
Future Directions for Social Housing in 
NSW released in 2016.   Our organisation 
is well placed to support and deliver on 
the aims of the NSW Government’s vision 
to focus on outcomes for individuals. The 
work we are already doing and plan to 
undertake in our region aligns with these 
Government policy objectives.

The appointment of Richard Innis to a new 
role of Operations Manager has added 
operational expertise to our organisation. 

Chairperson’s Report
This year it’s again my pleasure and privilege to be addressing you as the 
Chairperson of Homes North Community Housing (Homes North).  

Richard brings a wealth of experience 
around the region’s employment and 
training sector, relationship management 
and stakeholder engagement.   

You will see by our financial report that 
our financial position is strong with an 
operating surplus of $1.9 million. We 
are committed to resourcing in priority 
areas this next financial year to ensure 
we can increase the supply of social and 
affordable housing across the region. 
We have already committed additional 
resources to community engagement and 
tenant participation both of which we feel 
are vital supports for our tenants to realise 
their potential and ensure they have a 
positive and sustainable future. 

Following on from an acquisition strategy 
to increase housing supply, this year we 
commenced our first development at 
Stephen Street, Armidale which is very 
exciting for the organisation. The Board is 
very proud of this development which will 
see tenants moving in December 2016.                                                       

Homes North continues to be a proud 
member of the Housing Alliance. To 
increase the capacity of our activities the 
Housing Alliance made the decision this 

financial year to register a new company, 
Alliance Social Enterprises. The catalyst 
was to launch an exciting new venture, 
the Australian Social Value Bank. This is 
a tool to measure social impact through 
a wellbeing valuation. The valuation 
provides a dollar equivalent on how much 
an outcome affects a person’s wellbeing. 
Collaboration continues to be the vision for 
the alliance partners as we move further 
into the Future Directions environment. 

As a Board we are always committed 
to professional development. This year 
Directors attended the Better Boards 
Conference and the Affordable Housing 
Conference in Sydney. We commissioned 
a workshop with Effective Governance 
to review our Directors Handbook, Code 
of Conduct, Board Room Culture and 
also to ‘on-board’ our new Directors. The 
Board retreat, held every year in February, 
included the senior management team. 
This was a great opportunity to hear the 
team’s perspective on the Strategic and 
Operational plan. We all enjoy the time 
away to focus on our successes and vision 
for the future. The Board is very grateful for 
CEO Maree McKenzie’s continued energy, 
focus and commitment to her team, the 
organisation and the community.  
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She has become an advocate for 
many facets of community housing at 
Government level and this is one example 
of her integrity and leadership.

I would like to thank my fellow Board 
members for their dedication, time and 
commitment throughout the year. I would 
also like to thank the Audit and Risk 
Committee members for their expertise, 
time and commitment. Ian Downs is also 
a Director of the Federation of Housing 
Associations and commits time to attend 
their meetings. As the only Director on this 
Board his input is important. There has also 
been a constitutional review this year and 
I would like to pass on my congratulations 
to the committee for a job well done.  
John Kleeman was also involved in the 
development of the Reconciliation Action 
Plan.  All our Directors go the extra mile as 
they are passionate about the organisation 
and community housing. 

Our new Directors Jane Michie, Libby 
Cumming and John Kleeman have all 
committed time and effort to integrate 
their skills into our board. They come with 
a wide range of expertise and all bring a 
diversity that we feel is very important. 

... as we step into our new Strategic Plan of 2016-2020 
our organisation continues to strengthen ...

Josephine Heslin
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The next year will bring many 
opportunities, and the news about 
management transfers to Community 
Housing Providers in the New England 
North West is a challenge we are very 
keen to undertake. We look forward 
to participating in this opportunity 
to reimagine social housing for our 
communities. As a Board it is our role to 
remain informed, ensure we are making 
decisions with positive outcomes for 
our communities and be focused on 
governance, while remaining aligned to 
our strategic plan. I believe we continue to 
have the skills, the governance structure 
and a robust team to achieve this. 



In 2015/16 we implemented strategies that 
would sustain the quality of our service 
provision into the future:

• We committed to rolling out a traineeship 
programme. Three new trainees were appointed 
and one existing trainee successfully transitioned 
to a permanent housing management position. The 
traineeship model allows for the development of 
a wide range of skills over time leading to well-
rounded and multi-skilled staff. The programme 
also provides a great training and professional 
development opportunity for individuals in our 
communities.

• We commenced the rollout of an extensive training 
programme that targets knowledge and skills gaps 
identified by staff and aims to develop skills that 
will be needed to achieve the outcomes in our new 
strategic plan and the new Social Housing policy for 
NSW Future Directions.

Chief Executive 
Officer’s Report
In 2015/16 we focused on completing initiatives in our 2013-16 Strategic Plan 
and preparing the organisation for growth and diversification

Maree McKenzie - Chief Executive Officer 

Customer Service Training All staff
Cultural Awareness All staff
Certificate IV Social Housing 3 - Housing and tenant participation staff
Asbestos Awareness Training All staff
Hoarding Training 16 - Housing and asset staff
Diploma Of Social Housing 3 - Housing staff
Trauma Informed Care 5 - Housing staff
Aged Care 4 - Housing staff
Accidental Counsellor 5 - Housing staff
Strive & Survive Management 1
Workplace Support Skills 3
Suicide Bereavement Training 1 - Housing staff
Work Safely at Heights 1 - Asset staff
Remove Non-friable Asbestos 1 - Asset Manager
Grad Diploma Corporate Governance 1
Social Service Excellence Training 1
Distance Leadership Masterclass Training 2

Training our staff 2015/16
Masterclass on Effective partnerships 1
Linking Community Housing Tenants to Employment, 
Training & Education

2

Managing Difficult Conversations 2
Community Services Management 1
Work effectively with people experiencing or at risk of 
Homelessness

1

Shark Cage Training 1
Cultural Competency 1
Neighbourhoods Masterclass 2
Integrated Housing Management Software Training All staff
Cert IV Ageing Support 10

Cancer Council Training Day 1
Responding to Challenging Telephone Behaviours 2

Recognising & Responding to the Abuse of Older People 3

Business Writing Skills 1

Additionally, we positioned the organisation to manage better the 
increasingly diverse nature of our operations and adapt readily to future 
growth:

• We undertook a growth readiness diagnostic out of which several key organisational 
changes were identified. The first of these was the creation of an additional senior 
role of Operations Manager. This role allows for continued strong oversight of our core 
service activities whilst the organisation develops and grows in different capacities. This 
position will initially focus on ensuring outstanding performance in housing management 
operations. Overtime the role will also oversee asset management services operations.

• We created an additional role of Management Accountant in our Finance and 
Administration team to allow the more senior role of Manager Business Services to 
expand in scope, including the duties of Company Secretary.

• At Homes North we see our staff and clients as our reference points. Throughout the 
year we created several working groups consisting of staff from different teams and 
locations to feed into key new initiatives such as our Customer Service Standards, 
our Reconciliation Action Plan, and our Recovery Integration Plan. A new Supply and 
Development committee is ensuring a range of staff skills analyse our best opportunities 
and ensure appropriate outcomes for any new investments.

Continuation of our organisational review
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Re-branding
Stage 1 of our re-branding process is complete with a new logo, taglines, uniforms, 
stationary and more developed in consultation with Directors and staff.

Supporting our clients
Two new Tenant Participation Officer roles are reaping rewards for 
both tenants and our organisation:

• Tenant groups meeting regularly and working on projects and initiatives that relate 
to their specific community. 

• Tenant groups reviewing our policies.

• Tenants being connected to services and support to help sustain tenancies 
and improve wellbeing e.g. smoking cessation initiatives, TAFE courses, social 
activities.

Ongoing challenges
Developing our new integrated software system to full capacity remains an 
ongoing challenge with much work to be done to extract a full suite of reports 
and align procedures. The current limited reporting functionality has restricted our 
capacity to monitor performance in a timely manner.

Registration
Homes North maintained our status as a Registered Community Housing Provider 
through a successful compliance assessment for 2015.

Development of our new 
Strategic Plan and the 
release of Future Directions
Our current Strategic Plan expired 
at the end of the reporting period. 
Planning for the development of our 
new plan commenced late 2015. 
Directors and senior staff held a 
two-day retreat in February 2016 in 
Tamworth to review performance 
against the current plan and 
commence the groundwork for the 
development of the new plan. The 
annual retreat is held in a different 
community each year and includes a 
study tour. The Board and staff met 
with the local Tamworth and Gunnedah 
tenant groups, toured several unit 
complexes and properties, met 
residents and key partners, toured 
the Coledale social housing precinct 
and community infrastructure, and 
attended a presentation on the 
potential of a social impact approach 
to building new developments. The 
retreat included a comprehensive 
review of the new Social Housing 
policy for NSW Future Directions which 
identified opportunities and challenges 
for inclusion in Homes North’s next 
strategic plan. Future Directions aligns 
with Homes North’s vision and mission 
to provide much more than shelter. The 
policy provides us with the opportunity 
to do more of what we know works – 
supporting the overall wellbeing of our 
tenants.

The planning process also included 
a staff retreat in March as well as 
consultations with key stakeholders. 
An updated Housing Markets Analysis 
paper was also commissioned and 
forms part of the new strategic plan.

Homes North considers the 
development of our Strategic Plans 
carefully and ensures all levels of 
the organisation, our clients and 
stakeholders have a voice in the 
process. Additionally our external 
environment is scanned to ensure we 
plan for what is needed. We believe 
our new Strategic Plan is an excellent 
roadmap for the next four years and 
I am excited to commence work on 
delivering much more to 
our communities.
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Strategic Plan Goal 1
Strengthening Communities
Homes North will provide leadership in the New England North 
West on social and affordable housing issues, acting as the 
region’s leading community anchor.

Initiating projects and 
events that connect 

services to clients along 
the housing continuum

Raise the profile of the role and 
potential of community housing 
and Homes North in the region

 Homes North is committed to supporting our tenants to not only develop the skills to maintain a tenancy, 
but also to cultivate the skills to live fulfilling and independent lives.
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2016 Highlights   
Tenant Advisory Groups ................................................................................................................................................. page 18
Anne Wolfenden – Tablelands and Moree Tenant Participation Officer
Joy Wilson – Tamworth and Gunnedah Tenant Participation Officer

Reconciliation Action Plan .......................................................................................................................................... page 20
Homes North has successfully completed its Reconciliation Action Plan. The plan has been endorsed by  
Reconciliation Australia and Homes North Board. Next steps include development of cultural competencies standards.

Stephen Street Armidale development ............................................................................................................... page 22
Our blueprint for the future includes the development of specially designed homes to support our tenants’ abilitiy to live 
 independent lives and achieve their personal goals. 

Funding successes .......................................................................................................................................................... page 24
Funding has been won to build a sheltered area for tenants in Gunnedah and Tamworth unit complexes 
and to construct fences for priority homes in Glen Innes and Gunnedah.

Trainee in Tamworth progresses to be a Housing Officer ........................................................................ page 25
Traineeships are successfully running in Tamworth and Armidale offices with plans for a Moree trainee in the pipeline.

Student Placements for Certificate IV  Community Services Work .................................................... page 26
Homes North has hosted three students in Armidale and two in Gunnedah this year. This contributes to our 
community by supporting young people to complete their education and provides pathways to employment.

Our Co-locations with other support services across our region ...................................................... page 26
Supporting our tenants to successfully sustain their tenancies is a key focus. Working together in a co-location 
structure helps us improve the way we support our mutual clients.

Community Partnerships .............................................................................................................................................page 27
The strength of a community lies within its relationships and we know that the best outcomes for our tenants 
will be achieved when we work closely with our community organisations and businesses. 



Tenant Participation
A focus on some of our Tenant Advisory Groups

Tenant Participation Meetings Gunnedah and Tamworth - Joy Wilson

GUNNEDAH TENANT PARTICIPATION COMMITTEE
In Gunnedah we have four core members for the Gunnedah Tenant 
Participation Committee, with a number of other tenants visiting the group 
from time to time.  

One of the Gunnedah committee members is doing Cert IV in Community 
Services, while another takes a weekly group called “Emotions 
Anonymous”.   Two of the Gunnedah tenants spent a number of hours 
calling and meeting with other tenants to encourage them to complete 
their Tenant Satisfaction Survey.  This year the number of responses in 
Gunnedah nearly doubled!

The Gunnedah Committee has reviewed a variety of Homes North 
policies and the TPO has passed on their suggestions.  Homes North 
was fortunate enough to gain two grants of $3,000 for Gunnedah and 
Tamworth to help stopping smoking and in Gunnedah there are 3 people 
who are on the program.

Homes North Gunnedah has accessed Food Rescue from Aldi and 
Woolworths and the TPO is arranging for a tenant to come and help with 
the deliveries.

TAMWORTH TENANT COMMITTEE
Tamworth has more than nine tenants who meet once a month at 
Cridenden Cottage.  TTC members have raised $1,000 to buy 5 meat trays 
and 2 fruit trays as lucky door prizes for the Tenant Christmas Party.  The 
committee is also involved in organising the whole Christmas event and 
have  two Christmas puddings and two knee rugs from Uniting Knitting as 
more prizes on the day. 

The committee also follows up people who are unwell and encourages 
them to become involved in a range of activities including the popular 
knitting group. The committee president has organised more than 20 
people into Uniting Knitting and they are knitting shawls, knee rugs and 
blankets. These are then given to Homes North tenants in both Tamworth 
and Gunnedah.  

This group has also reviewed some of Homes North’s policies and has 
instigated a new policy on Elder Abuse, is slowly putting a bag together 
regarding important DV information, and two members were sponsored 
by Homes North to attend the Federation of Housing Associations 
committee training.

Tenant Advisory Groups Armidale  - Anne Wolfenden  

BARNEY/BUTLER TENANT GROUP
The tenant group was formed in 2015 and since then has been 
a strong advocate for the tenants in the unit block. They have 
worked to improve such things as general maintenance, signage, 
parking, lawns and grounds upkeep and lobbying council for 
better no parking areas out the front near the driveway.

The group meets every month and has developed a friendly 
and supportive bond with each other. They know that working 
together on a problem is much easier than managing on their 
own.

Trish Burley is the Chairperson and Paul Taubert monitors any 
maintenance issues and brings these to the meetings. Michael 
Saunders looks after the common area gardens and last year 
they won the Homes North Garden Competition. 

The group discusses a broad range of topics such as 
maintenance issues, reviews policies and makes suggestions for 
the improvement of the amenities for the unit complex. 

ROCKVALE ROAD TENANTS GROUP
The group has been meeting every two months since 2015 to 
discuss any issues that may be affecting the unit complex, the 
common area garden and to review policies.

The group has a BBQ lunch and a chat which helps promote a 
friendly and supportive environment for the residents of the unit 
complex.

ARMIDALE TENANT GROUP
The Armidale Tenant Group has been running for about 18 months 
now and meets every alternate month at the Armidale City 
Bowling Club.

Each meeting there is a full agenda with items of interest 
suggested by the tenants. Some of the agenda items have been 
upcoming community events, where to get free plants, free 
computers and discounted neutering for your pets. 

This year there was a great variety of guest speakers including 
Meals on Wheels and OZ Harvest, Community Safety, Northern 
Lights on how to save energy and Integrated Living explaining 
the new My Aged Care system.

The Armidale Tenant Group also reviews any of the new or 
updated Homes North’s policies that impact them. This feedback 
from tenants is extremely important to Homes North and is 
presented to the CEO or Board before final acceptance and 
implementation.

Each year a new Chairperson and Secretary are elected by the 
tenants to run the Armidale Tenant Group and to organise the 
minutes and meetings.

Both Tamworth and Gunnedah groups were part of the important Tenant 
Satisfaction Survey for Homes North as Tenant Survey Champions, 
encouraging other tenants to complete their surveys.

The annual garden competition is a hot agenda item for the Gunnedah and 
Tamworth committees with the aim to increase the number of entries again 
this year.

Both committees have said how they would like to work more with Homes 
North in whatever way they can.
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Tenant Participation Officers (TPOs)

Anne Wolfenden - Tenant Participation Officer

Joy Wilson - Tenant Participation Officer

Anne Wolfenden
My work 
My usual month consists of tenant meetings in 
Armidale, Inverell, Glen Innes & Moree.

However for July/August it was Homeless 
month, so I was involved in organising and 
attending the Homeless Connect Days in 
Tamworth, Glen Innes, Armidale & Inverell. 
These events are to raise the profile of Homes 
North in the communities we cover and provide 
information for homeless people as to what 
services can assist and support them. Overall 
there were around 700 people attending the 
Homeless Connect Days.

I attended the NAIDOC Celebrations in 
Armidale, the Seniors Week and Youth Week 
celebrations. I advocate on behalf of tenants 
who may be experiencing some challenges and 
take the issues to the Tenancy Management 
Team or the Asset Team to get resolved.

I am involved with the Interagency Meetings 
in Armidale, Glen Innes & Tenterfield, the 
Specialist Homelessness meeting and the 
Multicultural Interagency meeting. These are  
great ways to keep up to date with which 
services are operating in the areas we cover 
and it helps us know who we can go to for 
support for our clients. I also run the Rent It 
Keep It course.

The annual Tenant Satisfaction Survey 
was a massive effort for Joy, myself and 
the Tenant Survey Champions, resulting in 
a 35% response rate which was a great 
improvement on last year. 

So I have a varied job that takes me to all our 
tenants in the Northern Region and I must 
say that a nicer bunch of people you couldn’t 
hope to meet.

Joy Wilson 
My work
Visiting tenants and spending time hearing 
their stories is an incredible privilege for 
me.  In the first six months of the year I was 
able to meet many tenants through morning 
and afternoon teas and BBQ’s.  There is 
something to be said about relaxing over a 
cuppa that brings out the authentic person. 
Cake is generally part of my visits.

A TPO’s role is never dull or monotonous, 
from helping tenants with hoarding issues; 
organising assistance for specific needs; 
helping tenants as they go through painful 
experiences; finding furniture and other 
household items that will make life more 
comfortable; finding clothing for children; 
helping them to connect to other services 
that will bring positive and helpful outcomes; 
organising Occupational Therapists to visit 
tenants, and helping tenants reconnect with 
family and community.

Being involved in Homeless Connect monthly 
meetings and the Homeless Connect Day 
was a great success, as was NAIDOC week 
where the Homes North team spoke with a 
large number of people. Being involved with 
the Community Drug Action Team has been 
helpful as a number of tenants have been 
referred on. I have also been involved in three 
forums for Tamworth and Gunnedah, with 
Northern Links, Legal Aid and New England 
Tenants Advocacy Service and Fair Trading.   

Three grant application forwarded to the 
Social Housing Community Improvement Fund 
have all been successful and two undercover 
areas are to be built, one in Gunnedah and 
one in Tamworth.  This will provide a place 
outside of tenant’s units for family and friends 
to gather.    The third grant is to provide a 
dozen tenants in Gunnedah with fencing.  
It is a great outcome for the tenants.

TAFE has given our tenants opportunity to 
learn for free, and after successfully gaining 
two grants from the Cancer Council a number 
of our tenants have reduced their smoking 
and others have almost given up.   The 
tenants said  they have saved significant 
money and have been able to complete 
Christmas shopping and feel much healthier.  

The Highlights for me over the last year 
have been the tenants’ enthusiasm for 
forming committees in their local towns, the 
success of the Homeless Connect Days, the 
Development of the Tenant Participation 
Strategy and the great response to the Tenant 
Satisfaction Survey.

Recently a tenant said, 'TPO’s are a face of Homes North that bring with them a 
personal and caring touch that doesn’t always involve business.'



Reconciliation Action Plan
RECONCILIATION ACTION PLAN WORKING GROUP

It’s a RAP!

“The introduction of our first RAP is such an important and exciting move for Homes North. With 
Aboriginal people housed in close to half of  Homes North’s properties, having more Aboriginal 

employees will be key to successful tenancies for Aboriginal people.”

Senior Housing Manager, Toni Widders 

Throughout 2016 a staff working group from 
across the region has been meeting regularly to 
develop Homes North’s first Reconciliation Action 
Plan (RAP). The plan lays out nearly 50 achievable 
and measurable actions that Homes North has 
committed to achieving over the next two years. 
The actions will see the development of better 
principles of working with our Aboriginal tenants 
and communities to achieve positive outcomes. 

The plan builds on Homes North’s strong 
Aboriginal employment history to provide even 
more Aboriginal employment opportunities. The 
Aboriginal Employment Strategy includes activities 
to increase, retain and support Aboriginal staff. 
Homes North will continue to take a lead in 
celebrating events of significance on the Aboriginal 
calendar and engage in staff cultural learning. 

Our RAP has been endorsed by Reconciliation 
Australia who will monitor the implementation of 
the plan throughout its lifecycle. 

As Homes North takes steps to train staff in 
becoming more culturally aware, we are also 
taking further steps to enhance cultural learning 
by introducing the recently developed Community 
Housing Aboriginal Cultural Competency 
Standards – a self assessment process for 
community housing providers. The RAP working 
group has now been charged with the task of 
performing a self assessment review of how we 
and our tenants and partners think we are shaping 
up against the standard. This is no small piece of 
work and will, in all likelihood, be a process of 
continual improvement over many years. 

Lavenia Weatherall - Working Group

Richard Innis - Working Group

Amber Canon - Working Group

Coby Saunders - Working Group

Working Group: Toni Widders,  Anne Wolfenden, Kayla Hall, Andrew Parker, Nickie Murcell,
Maree McKenzie, John Kleeman20 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



“Assessing how our services measure up to the cultural competencies will be 
a big challenge. It will take time and will need focused conversations and 

strong engagement by the RAP working group and our staff across 
all seven competencies” 

Service Development Officer, Nickie Murcell.

Cultural Competency
We often talk about cultural awareness among organisations and staff. Cultural competency takes that awareness to a deeper level of 
understanding and confidence when working within Aboriginal culture.

There are five essential elements which contribute to the ability of an organisation to become more culturally competent:
1. Valuing diversity
2. Having the capacity for cultural self-assessment
3. Being conscious of the dynamics inherent when cultures interact
4. Having institutionalised culture knowledge
5. Having developed adaptations to service delivery that reflect an understanding of cultural diversity

These elements align with the Aboriginal Cultural Competency Standards for Community Housing Providers.

“We are very proud of the tangible steps we are taking to improve our 
capacity to work effectively with Aboriginal staff, communities and 

Aboriginal organisations and businesses”

Maree McKenzie CEO Homes North

RAP working group members Toni Widders and Andrew Parker 
at Armidale Sorry Day 
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A Platinum Build
Stephen Street, Armidale 

Stephen Street, Armidale construction site

Homes North is committed to increasing the supply of 
affordable housing options in the New England North West of 
NSW. We are able to do this thanks to the NSW Government’s 
progressive title transfer programme. Under this programme 
new properties developed by the Government were 
transferred to Homes North with caveats ensuring the 
properties could only be utilised for social housing. Homes 
North has leveraged the value of these assets to invest in the 
acquisition and development of further new properties that 
are providing quality affordable housing to the community.

To date Homes North has been acquiring newly developed 
properties. This year however, we commenced our own 
property development activities to better further our objective 
of bringing accessible, environmentally-sustainable and 
affordable housing to the region. We chose to develop a low 
concentration six unit complex that achieves a high energy 
efficiency rating through good orientation, comprehensive 
insulation, double glazing and energy efficient appliances 
such as LED lighting, continuous flow gas hot water systems 
and reverse cycle air conditioning. 

We also incorporated accessible design using the Liveable Design 
guidelines. Three units are being constructed to the highest or 
platinum level of accessibility, and the remaining three units are 
being constructed to the gold standard of these guidelines. The 
platinum level units are fully wheel chair accessible and the gold 
level units are more suitable to those with moderate mobility issues.

The three platinum level units will be NDIS ready for community 
members with high needs and a severe physical disability.

The units have been designed in collaboration with our construction 
partners Hibbards. The Hibbards team and our Asset Manager 
worked carefully on the design to ensure the properties will be very 
cost-effective and comfortable to live in, and present ongoing value 
to Homes North.

Our local Member of Parliament, Adam Marshall, kindly officiated at 
our ground-breaking ceremony to mark the commencement of the 
build. Construction is now well underway and the new units will be 
offered to potential tenants prior to Christmas 2016.

Commencement of a new 6 unit development at 2 - 4 Stephen St, Armidale.

Homes for the Wellbeing of our Community.
We believe that housing is an essential human need that provides the foundation for healthy lives.  In 2016 we 
again asked our tenants what impact being housed by Homes North had on their quality of life.  

This year 87% of tenants 
said they were likely to 

recommend Homes North to 
family and friends.22 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016
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How do we help 
people with 
disabilities? 

We manage a range of accommodation options for 
people with disabilities and we match people to the 
appropriate property.  Our accommodation ranges 

from 24/7 on-site support, full wheelchair accessibility 
to minor modifications.

Tenants with a disability are supported by our 
experienced Housing team and through our links with 

specialist service providers.  

Our tenants receive the support they need to sustain 
their tenancies for the long term and live independent 

lives in the community. 

“I am thankful to Homes North for providing me a safe place that caters to my 
deteriorating health. Having a house that is modern and designed for someone in a 

wheelchair is wonderful.  Also for providing me a community of lovely, friendly, neighbours 
for myself and my son. Thank you to all staff at Homes North for your wonderful service.”

Anonymous tenant quote

 35% 
of all our new tenancies allocated 
in the financial year 2015/16 were 

for a tenant with a disability. 

33% 
of our residents live with 

a disability.

Funding successes
Funding has been won to build a sheltered area for tenants in Gunnedah and Tamworth unit complexes and to 
construct fences for priority homes in Glen Innes and Gunnedah.

Shelters for  Gunnedah and Tamworth complexes
Tenants living in a tightly packed unit complex will now have the 
opportunity to gather with tenants, family and friends in a pleasant and 
relaxed environment outside from their own units.

Brian Davis a tenant of Henry Street Units says, “It will be nice to have 
this as I really don’t know my neighbours. This undercover area will be a 
great place to gather”.

Another tenant, Ron Eastham says, “We now have another place other 
than my unit, to sit with friends and family.  When visitors arrive, we can 
hardly move in my one bedroom unit”. 

The zone has been marked ready for the excavator and 
by the end of December many people will be enjoying the 
outdoors area and a cool breeze under a well built shaded area 
surrounded by shrubs and flowers.    

Boasting a disability friendly plan this area will come with tables 
and chairs and facilities to make a cuppa.  

A lot of positive comments and feedback was received before 
submitting the application and many are looking forward to 
enjoying spending time with their neighbours and others under 
this welcoming setting.     
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Trainee in Tamworth progresses to be a Housing Officer
Homes North is passionate about serving our communities and 
this passion is reflected in the local employment opportunities we 
provide. As an organisation we take great pride in knowing that a 
number of staff have commenced their housing careers though our 
traineeships and remained with the company, progressing through 
internal promotions. Amie McKinnon is one staff member currently 
on this journey.

After completing her HSC at Oxley High School Tamworth Amie got 
her first employment start, as many do, in the retail and hospitality 
industry. These industries suited Amie’s bubbly personality and 
attitude to hard work. She spent an enjoyable three years working at 
the local factory outlet where she was able to fine-tune her customer 
service skills. While she was enjoying her time in retail she was 
starting to consider a career where she could give back to her local 
community. Unsure how she was going to do this Amie decided to 
complete a Cert IV in Community Services while still working in retail.

Not long after completing her certificate she answered a trainee 
vacancy advertised by a local apprenticeship organisation. Amie 
excelled through the interview process and was thrilled to be offered 
the trainee position. Not only did this traineeship provide Amie with 
a Certificate III in Business it also provided her with the opportunity 
to further her goal to work  in the community sector. Amie completed 
her traineeship with Homes North last year. “I learnt so much 
throughout this time and have met some great people”.

As Amie’s traineeship was coming to an end a full time position became 
available and again, Amie was successful. She is now working as a 
Homes North Housing Officer.

Traineeships are successfully running in Tamworth and Armidale offices 
with plans for a Moree trainee in the pipeline.

“I have now been appointed as a Housing Officer and absolutely loving my new role and all 
the challenges that are thrown my way. I am continuing to grow and learn and now look 

forward to completing my Cert IV in Social Housing”.

Amie McKinnon

Glen Innes tenant representative Bob and Homes North staff talking with local 
member Adam Marshall about funding for fencing for our Glen Innes properties

Site of new shelter at Henry St Gunnedah

The opportunity to apply for funding to help our 
tenants fence their homes
An important part of anyone feeling safe in your home is that anyone 
can’t just wander into the yard. The fence around a home is a simple 
barrier and provides a sense of security. Homes North understands 
the importance of our tenants feeling safe in their homes. Funding was 
granted to two locations, one in the New England in Glen Innes and 
the other in the North West of our region in Gunnedah. Homes were 
prioritised and a range of fencing choices will be offered to many of 
our tenants.

Tenant quotes:
“It would be fabulous to have a fence.  I would not be having people 
cutting through my place and especially at night.”

“It would mean the world to me to have a front fence”

“A fence would give security for my home and my family.”

STRENGTHENING CO
M

M
UNITIES



“We believe that a sincere 
and outcomes focussed

collaboration 
can change lives.”

Pathfinders

Richmond PRA

Mission Australia

Gunnedah Family Support

Kirinari Community Services

Challenge Community Services

Inverell Accommodation Services

Tamworth Family Support Service

Byamee Moree Area Homelessness Services

Armidale Women’s Homelessness Support Service
 Many Rivers Regional Housing Management Services
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Student Placements for Certificate IV Community Services Work
Homes North has hosted three students in Armidale and two in Gunnedah this year as part of our contribution to our 
community and supporting young people to progress and successfully complete their education. 

We asked one of the students Jake about his time with us ...

TAFE New England Students Ranee and Jake doing work placement at Homes North Armidale

Why did you come to Homes North 
for your student placement time?
I am studying Community Services Work at 
TAFE in Tamworth and wanted to gain some 
practical experience and knowledge to be able 
to join this industry. I am also required to do a 
number of hours of practical work as part of my 
Certificate IV studies.

What did you learn?
I learnt so many different things, and some 
things I thought I would never have seen. I 
went out with the Housing staff to visit a tenant 
suffering from Hoarding and was amazed at 
the difficulties some people face. I also learnt 
that this work is so varied. I was talking to 
people from many different nationalities and 
cultures. It was a real eye opener for me.

What did you enjoy the most?
Everything really, the people, the experience 
and the chance to create new relationships. 
Also, I really enjoyed sitting at reception a few 
times, talking with the tenants and working out 
ways to help them.

What surprised you?
A couple of things, but that’s the whole point of learning. I think the main thing was how 
many different people would come into the Homes North office every day.

What insights will you take with you as you continue your study?
The time with Homes North made me think about other roles in the Community Services 
sector I had never thought about. It has really made me think this is the work for me. I also 
liked working with the two other Community Service work students who are also at Homes 
North. It was good to talk about our experiences together and compare how we were 
progressing and the variety of work we could do when we finished studying.

Co-locations with other support services across our region
Supporting tenants to successfully sustain tenancies is a key focus for Homes North. To better achieve this aim 
we work closely with support services in each of our locations. 

Co locations:
Gunnedah office sharing with UnitingCare

Through co-location Homes North works closely with Uniting staff 
to ensure the tenancies of our elderly and vulnerable community 
members are sustained and our older residents are well supported in 
their transition to aged care facilities.

Inverell office sharing with Staying Home Leaving Violence program 
managed by TFSS (Tamworth Family Support Service)

 “It has been our experience that having a service co-locate has 
enormous benefits to the clients, through the warm and smooth 
referrals and clients not having to retell their story. The added benefit 
to workers is a sharing of knowledge, skills and resources.” Belinda 
Kotris: General Manager TFSS 

TFSS provides homelessness and family related services across the 
New England North West

Moree office sharing with Byamee Proclaimed Place Moree 
Area Homelessness Service

This co-location supports seamless service provision for 
transition from homelessness through to stable housing.

Tamworth: Homes North is also in negotiations with TFSS to 
co-locate the two services in Tamworth

Gunnedah office

The aim here is to ensure the best outcomes for our mutual clients through a one stop shop approach.26 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016
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When focusing on strengthening our communities and 
supporting individuals, we know that we can’t do it alone.

Homes North would like to acknowledge and thank the following organisations and individual staff for 
supporting Homes North Community Housing and our tenants throughout the year.



Srategic Plan Goal 2 
Supporting Individuals
Providing services to specific groups in housing need within the region:

• Aboriginal community members         
• Homeless community members
• Older people                                           
• People with disabilities

Providing secure and 
affordable housing to some 

of the most vulnerable 
people in our community

Supporting our tenants to 
sustain their tenancies

Treating people with respect 
and dignity; viewing their 

challenges in a holistic way and 
acknowledging that different 
people have different needs

Actively linking people with 
supports to assist them 

overcome any issues they 
may be facing

 Homes North is committed to supporting our tenants to not only develop the skills to maintain a tenancy, 
but also to cultivate the skills to live fulfilling and independent lives.
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2016 Highlights 
Hoarding training for staff and assistance for tenants .................................................................................. page 31
As part of Homes North’s commitment to our Recovery Integration Plan (RIP) we have worked with a local hoarding trainer and 
consultant to upskill our staff and our regional support providers. Additionally we provided mentoring opportunities to develop 
staff skills in this challenging arena.

Training for tenants through TAFE New England – Taster qualifications ............................................ page 32
Our partnership with TAFE New England continues to grow with this year’s development of short course qualifications, or “Taster 
Quals” to inspire our tenants to try new skills to help them gain meaningful employment. A great success story for one of our 
tenants.

Affordable Housing made all the difference .........................................................................................................page 33
Homes North continues to promote the crucial role affordable housing opportunities provide in our region. This simple housing 
product can make a difference to our tenants. This year we continued to provide 27 homes under this program. 

Rent It Keep It training for tenants.............................................................................................................................page 34
Sustainable tenancies is one of the first goals for our tenants. As part of our commitment to support our tenants Homes North has 
developed the popular Rent It Keep It course to be deliverd three ways; a class room group approach, information for our support 
providers and one-on-one mentoring/training by our Tenant Participation Officers.

Tenant stories from TPOs ..................................................................................................................................................page 35
Our Tenant Participation Officers have worked hard this year engaging with a broad range of tenants and this hard work is 
reflected in our positive response to our Tenant Satisfaction Survey. There is an increase in satisfaction with Homes North’s 
engagement across most of our locations. There are so many amazing stories and we feel it is important to share some.



Hoarding affects

600,000 

Australians across all socio-economic groups

A growing dilemma in mental health     

2.6% 
of the population of Australia might 
have clinically significant hoarding 

problems

Catholic Com
m

unity Services NSW
/ACT program

 referrals data January 2013-June 2014 80%
of homes with hoarding 

present a safety risk

Hoarding can be prompted by traumatic events such as a death or divorce ...

Many hoarders can’t ‘see’ their problem

81% 
of those living with hoarding disorder 

face mental health risks

Hoarding and squalor is an estimated

$1.8 billion 
issue with little recognition of the impact 

of this condition

Housing insecurity 
is a significant issue 
with tenants at risk 

of eviction
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Homes North tackles this growing mental health challenge

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

Hoarding training for staff and assistance for tenants

Our housing and asset staff recognised Hoarding as a growing concern 
amongst our tenancies. Hoarding was placing our tenants at risk of 
homelessness and was becoming an increasing financial burden on the 
company. Compulsive hoarding, also known as hoarding disorder, is a 
pattern of behaviour that is characterised by excessive acquisition and an 
inability or unwillingness to discard large quantities of objects that cover the 
living areas of the home and cause significant distress or impairment.

In early 2015 Homes North won funding through Partners In Recovery to do 
some specific projects to help some of our tenants who were struggling. One 
of the more difficult areas for tenancy management is around hoarding, from 
minor disorganisation through to extreme cases. Homes North researched 
potential options and found a local consultant who works with hoarders and 
helps them to get their lives back on track. 

A local Armidale resident, Alice Cairns provides professional organising 
services for those who suffer from hoarding. A major advantage of using a 
local business like Alice’s is that she works in and understands the rural and 
regional context around hoarding which can often be quite different to the 
metro areas.  Alice has training in Extreme Hoarding Disorder which is 
now registered as mental health issue, and in Senior Squalor 
(or Diogenes Syndrome).

Homes North contracted Alice to conduct training 
workshops for our housing and asset staff and other 
interested regional support service workers.  
One day workshops were run in 
Armidale, Inverell and Tamworth and 
focused on the causes of hoarding 
and the triggers for hoarding 
behaviours, as well as the nature 
of extreme hoarding disorders and 
senior squalor.  Over 30 people 
attended each of the three one 
day workshops. Participants felt 
that the workshops had given 
them valuable insights into 
the reasons for hoarding, the 
mental health issues and life 
experiences which can trigger 
such behaviours.

Following the training, Alice mentored some of Homes North’s 
housing staff to help them better engage with hoarders and assist 
with their decluttering. Alice has now worked with many Homes 
North tenants, one in Glen Innes, three residents in Gunnedah, one 
in Inverell and two in Tamworth. All of these residents displayed 
most or all of the characteristics of extreme hoarding. Homes North 
was able to organise some care packages and support to help 
the residents to maintain their kitchens and living areas to support 
healthy living. 

HOMES NORTH APPROACH - A POSITIVE APPROACH
Providing Positive Feedback

• Good choice
• I like the way you…
• Spot on 
• Thank you for not …
• Thank you for making the right choice
• Excellent
• Well done
• Thank you for making me smile
• Great job

Positive Talk
• Use positive words for items (avoid “stuff", "rubbish" etc.)
• Accept any excuses or “fibs” the client gives for retaining items; 

or delaying decluttering.
• Positive Ways of persuading clients to declutter
• You might find…
• You could…
• The benefit would be…
• There’s great value in…
• It might be a good idea if…
• The reward for…
• The advantage…

Hoarders often fear making a mistake when deciding what to throw out and what to keep, so 
they therefore do not discard anything. If they don’t throw anything out they avoid anxiety.

Hoarders have difficulty making decisions and categorizing possessions. Some hoarders 
take a long time to execute small tasks. They may move objects from pile to pile but never 
throw anything out or get a functional organizational system.

Many hoarders have little insight into their condition. Given that they do not consider they 
have a problem they are not motivated to engage in treatment.
Anxiety Treatment Australia



Homes North and TAFE New England worked together to inspire a number of tenants to try out some short courses TAFE was offering in Nail 
and Beauty, Aged Care and Horticulture. The “Taster Qualifications” were run for 4 weeks so the students could get a taste of studying at TAFE 
and to find out  if they would like to do further study in an area of interest. Homes North’s Tenant Participation Officer Joy Wilson contacted 
tenants in Gunnedah to let them know about this opportunity and then provided ongoing support.

TAFE Teacher Michelle Rogers
The Skill Set in ‘Beauty Services’ was identified initially by the local job 
agencies, Homes North Community Housing and Janelle McCosker from 
TAFE New England, as an opportunity to provide skills and training in 
the local community of Gunnedah.  This was considered by all agencies 
as an ideal course to gain to entry level skills and potential employment 
opportunities.  Funding for this course was provided by Training Services 
NSW.

TAFE New England teacher, Michelle Rogers, is one of two teachers who 
have been teaching five units, including some practical units in make-up 
and nails, to the six students who enrolled at the course. 

“Although this short course is beauty based, the knowledge 
and skills that the students are learning, can be applied 
across all industries and to their personal lives".

“It is satisfying to teach a group of students who are 
extremely determined to complete this course and it is 
rewarding to observe them as they develop a sense of 
achievement”, Michelle said.

Melanie says, “My self-esteem is better as I was once a person 
who was house bound on a disability support pension.  I find myself 
getting out of the house more and more and practising my skills on 
family and friends.  I see this venture as producing income for me, 
and my family will benefit from it.” Melanie feels that a course of this 
nature is important for her wellbeing and also as a role model for 
her children to teach them that education and self improvement are  
important.

Her sense of “a better self” does not stop there.  She is much 
healthier in body and mind and this opportunity has made her feel 
excited and happy.  She says, “I have the opportunity to give back to 
my community.” 

Homes North tenant and TAFE Student Melanie Fulton
“Taster qualifications” led to a new business for a Homes North tenant

Melanie Fulton

When Melanie found out that a short course in Nail and Beauty from 
TAFE New England was available for Homes North tenants she put 
her hand up; not only did she want to get out of the house more, 
but also thought this may be an opportunity that could lead to full 
time work or even the development of her own business. 

Attending Gunnedah TAFE each Friday from 9:00am to 3.30pm, 
Melanie has learned about customer service, health and hygiene, 
WHS and practical skills on cuticle care and massage care of nails 
and has become skilled in painting nails and toe nails.  

During the course Melanie was inspired to create her own business 
opportunity, pampering older residents in Nursing Homes.  She 
contacted Skin Deep Learning, a Brisbane Company, and sent 
them her business proposal.  They liked her proposal and agreed 
to act on her behalf. Their role is contacting Nursing Homes in the 
Gunnedah area to let them know about Melanie and her business.  
Already, one Nursing Home has shown significant interest in utilizing 
Melanie’s newly acquired skills to bring pampering to their aged 
residents.

She hopes to begin her business venture in the New Year as she still 
has some units to pass before the end of the year. 

Training for Tenants through TAFE New England
Homes North Supports Tenant Aspirations - Taster qualifications
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Barb Pennington’s story 
Less than 2 years after applying for a tenancy in 
the Affordable Housing Program, my family and I 
are grateful to be living with a sense of security 
that a home provides.  The move to a Homes 
North (Armidale) rental property has given us 
the opportunity to make progress in ways that 
contribute to living well.

My husband and I, together with our school-aged 
son, relocated from Far North Queensland to 
Armidale a few years ago. In the tropics I often felt 
overwhelmed and depressed from the heat and 
humidity. Armidale was an easy decision as a new 
place to live. The Experience the Highs website 
was a winner. The biggest challenge was renting 
privately on much less income. My husband found 
work quickly but I didn’t.  

Using textile design and production skills I 
learned at TAFE (only a couple of decades ago!), 
and a stash of discontinued, designer interior 
fabric samples that had been destined for the 
tip, I started a market stall selling handcrafted 
homewares.  Now I’m at the Mall once a month 
with the The Good Fabric stall. I have also held a 
stall at the Walcha Quota Club Christmas Markets 
for the past two years.  My ethos is that you do 
good often and in as many ways possible.  

With the affordable rent from Homes North we have sustained a 
good lifestyle that is possible on one wage. I have enrolled in a 
business course to develop my skills and knowledge. My intention 
is to grow The Good Fabric to contribute to the family income. 

I appreciate the opportunity to give thanks for what we have.  One 
way of doing this is participating as the Secretary of the Armidale 
Tenants Group, established late last year.  With Anne Wolfenden 
as our Tenant Participation Officer, the meetings are really 
comfortable, interesting and informative.

We love Armidale and feel good living here.  No more tropical 
lows (or deep depressions) for me! 

Affordable Housing

Employment Related Accommodation – ERA

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

Homes North’s Senior Housing Managers Toni Widders and Amber 
Cannon manage the ERA program that has helped Aboriginal people 
from remote parts of our country get access to housing in Armidale 
and Tamworth to study or gain employment.

Homes North has been managing the ERA program on behalf of the 
Aboriginal Housing Office since 2010 in Armidale and Tamworth. We 
have had many successful tenancies for people needing homes to 
be able to study or to take up an employment opportunity. Now we 
manage four family homes and two shared homes in Tamworth and 
accommodation for ten people across a range of family homes and 
share places in Armidale.

The program provides affordable accommodation for two years for 
people who are working and for students for the length of their course.

IPROWD students. (Indigenous Police Recruiting Our Way Delivery)

This year four students from Tingha, Mungindai, Moree and 
Glen Innes were part of the IPROWD six month course at 
TAFE New England in Tamworth. They were able to secure 
their accommodation at a home managed by Homes North 
while they studied.  All four students achieved a Certificate III  
in  Vocational and Study Pathways training, completed the 5 
week University Certificate in Workforce Essentials, university 
preparation training and are now applying to the NSW Police 
Force Academy in Goulburn. By working with the Aboriginal 
Housing Office to manage the ERA properties Homes North 
is helping students and employees to achieve their goals and 
prepare for their futures.

Homes North Housing is magnificent -its very well suited to 
my situation for which I am very grateful.

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Barb Pennington



Rent It Keep It!

Rent It Keep It graduates with TPO Anne Wolfenden

“This was the first certificate I have ever received!”
Rent It Keep It participant

Rent it Keep It Course 2016
Homes North, in partnership with EACH, Freeman House and 
Pathfinders ran a Rent it Keep it (RIKI) course in August this year. 
There were seven participants, ranging in ages from 17 – 50. The 
course was run over two mornings as past experience has shown 
this is a more popular time. 

The Rent It Keep It course explains tenant’s rights and 
responsibilities, how to present yourself to a Real Estate Agent, 
what to do if you get into difficulties and sensible budgeting skills.

There were guest speakers from NEWTAAS (New England and 
Western Tenants Advice and Advocacy Service) explaining tenants’ 
rights & responsibilities and how to seek assistance, and the NSW 
Civil & Administrative Tribunal and what to do if you are served 
a Notice of Termination. There also was a guest speaker from 
Northern Links, a tenant support program, and a real estate agent 
explaining what they look for in a prospective new tenant.

Young people, in particular, do not have a rent reference and find 
it difficult to obtain housing in the private sector. This is where the 

Rent It Keep It course helps them. Every participant receives 
a certificate stating they had completed the course and 
some of the real estate agents in Armidale are happy to 
use the course completion certificate in place of a rent 
reference.

One participant had lodged nine applications for private 
rental and been unsuccessful each time. The next time he 
took his Rent It Keep It certificate with him to a Real Estate 
Agent he was successful in obtaining a property.

Work is continuing by the Specialist Homelessness Services 
(SHS) with local real estate agents to negotiate for more 
agencies to accept the RIKI Certificate in place of a rent 
reference. 

We hope to run another course in the near 
future in cooperation with the SHS services 
for our clients and theirs.
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Tenant Stories from our TPOs
TENTERFIELD TENANTS STORIES - New friends
When Tenant Participation Officer Anne Wolfenden first 
suggested a Tenant Group to Homes North tenants in 
Tenterfield there were only a few interested people. However 
Anne got talking to one tenant who thought there may be 
some other tenants who would like to just go out for a coffee 
and a chat. One tenant thought this would be a great idea. 
So now these two tenants have been meeting nearly every 
fortnight for over eight months.

They wouldn’t miss it for the world. They now have a great new 
friend and look forward to their catch up.

Anne says that this has been a great outcome for the both of 
them and it reminds us of the importance of social connections 
for our wellbeing.

Story from Jacky Fleming Barney Street
"At our units in Barney St we have had some concerns" said 
Jacky. "Some of us joined the Barney St committee and 
brought these concerns to the attention of Homes North. 
They have now been resolved". 

Positive outcomes provided by Homes North:

• Bollards in our driveways have been removed.
• Information provided on how underground  

water tanks work.
• Broken tiles on stairways repaired.
• Information provided on who is responsible for  

our bin area.
• Soil for the common garden areas was provided by 

Homes North.

What is also great about having these meetings is that 
you meet other tenants, and we have been given lots of 
information on things such as:

• Courses available to do eg. computers, Rent It Keep It
• Resources that are available for any help you might need eg. 

New England Medicare local services now called Healthwise
• You can have special speakers come to your meetings eg. 

someone to explain how to save on your electricity bills.

Your voice with many voices gets issues resolved.

The Gatepost Support Services (TGGS) -  
Narrative and Equine Assisted Therapy, Gunnedah
TGSS has provided a safe and relaxed environment where the 
client’s opinion is valued and they are supported to tell and develop 
stories that ultimately strengthen them.  

The founder Sarah Ferguson says, “It takes so much courage to 
talk to a stranger about their life. There are certain conditions in 
the environment that are required to ensure that it is safe enough 
for people to share stories of their lives that do not harm but bring 
about good.”

One of Homes North tenants who wish to remain anonymous 
says, “It has been really good. The counselling has helped me 
to understand my sadness and the experiences associated with 
them which were the death of my son and a relationship breakup.  
Through conversation I feel so much better and stronger in myself.  
I have a different frame of mind which is now more positive. I 
attended The Gatepost Support Services for a number of weeks but 
now I attend counselling every fortnight.”

One of the counsellors Britt Hickey said it gives her much joy and 
heightened awareness that what TGSS does is producing positive 
outcomes. 

“I have been able to see people grow and change and tell their 
stories and see them expand as human beings. Being able to tell 
their stories with no judgement and no stigma and no shame has 
allowed them to be heard sometimes for the first time. I see people 
leave with big smiles on their face.”

Many of Homes North tenants have experienced counselling at TGSS and have 
faced challenging issues that have been with them for years.  

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS



Strategic Plan Goal 3

Strategic sub-goal:
Expand our framework for tenant participation that embeds these activities into the 
operations of the service and transforms tenant participation into a hallmark of the 
service
• Develop and implement a revitalised tenant participation structure

• Develop and sustain a culture of operational excellence by transitioning the operations of the organisation out of a period of 
rapid growth and consolidation to one of continual improvement

• Develop a consistent culture of service excellence and continual improvement

• Maintain a consistent performance culture across all sections and locations

• Professionalise the image of the service

• Integrate asset services into admin/finance and housing management

• Meet NBESP acquisition targets for 2015-16

• Ensure corporate governance activities are appropriate for the nature and size of the business as it grows and develops 
Maintain a robust system of governance

• Working in partnership with the Housing Alliance to build the resilience and independence of Homes North

• Having a strong Governance Framework 
• Having a culture of continuous quality improvement 
• Investing in the development of our staff 
• Investing in our IT systems
• Listening to annual feedback from our customers
• Being transparent in all aspects of our business from our decision making to our finances
• Setting targets to improve our performance
• Working with others to increase our organisation’s capacity

Providing Excellent Service
Homes North will continue to be recognised by our tenants and peer organisations for the 
quality of service we provide. 
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2016 Highlights   

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Development of Customer Service Standards ................................................................................................... page 38
Following on from training in June this year a working party of willing Homes North staff have worked together 
to develop Customer Service Standards for the whole organisation. These standards will be reviewed by all staff and 
the CEO and then sent to the Board for final approval prior to adoption by the organisation.

Tenant Satisfaction Survey – creation of Tenant Survey Champions ............................................................. page 39
The aim for this year’s Tenant Satisfaction Survey was to increase the response rate for the survey to help obtain a broader picture 
of what our tenants think of our service currently and opportunities for improvement. Tenant Survey Champions were chosen from 
our Tenant Advisory Groups and the results were better than we had hoped with a 10% increase in our response. This is a great 
outcome with valuable information from our tenants on how to improve our service to them.

Development of new Strategic Plan for 2016-2020 ......................................................................................... page 40
This important plan will guide Homes North for the next 4 years. A thorough consultation and development process was 
undertaken that included input from staff over a number of weeks, workshops with the Board and Senior Management and 
consultations with our external stakeholders.

Review of our Structure ................................................................................................................................................... page 50
As an important part of Homes North’s growth plan a review of the organisation’s structure was undertaken 
with input from the Board, Senior Management and staff.

“No service is perfect but the staff at Homes North work hard to look after 
tenants. They are polite, helpful and easy to talk to. Open to suggestions and good 

communicators. Thanks for doing a great job!”

Anonymous quote from tenant



“No service is perfect but the staff at Homes North work hard to look after 
tenants. They are polite, helpful and easy to talk to. Open to suggestions and 

good communicators. Thanks for doing a great job!”

Anonymous quote from tenant

Development of 
Customer Service Standards
Working party: Ainslie Jones, Sandra Flint, Jodie McNamara, Trish Heffernan, Jason Mackie, Richard Innis, Nickie Murcell
The working party has developed a consultative approach to the development of our Customer Service Standards. This included the 
development of key focus areas and an approach that works from trainee through to senior management.

• Cheerful greeting + Organisation name + Unit name + Offer to HELP
• Ask for and use customer name
• Empathise by acknowledging strong feelings
• Restate enquiry + wait for confirmation
• Reassure you can assist - ownership statement

• Bridge into discovery
• Confirm contact info/ID and check 

record history/create new profile
• Use effective questions to clarify/

establish cause
• Paraphrase needs + wait for 

confirmation

• Explore options, benefits, consequences
• Seek customer's opinion and agreement
• Check if all questions are answered + Anticipate 

future needs
• Information given is accurate, relevant, up to date
• Appropriate Referral/Transfer/Hold protocols

• Summarise next steps + Timeline
• Check for satisfaction
• Reassure support and further assistance
• Thank you and farewell by name

• Coordinate information/
responses/decisions

• Update customer within 
committed timeframe

• Keep records up to date

Introduction

Needs
Discovery

Close

Follow up

Resolution

Customer Service Framework
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“It is our pleasure in completing this survey as a tenant, we believe its a 
privilege to have one of your houses over our heads.”

"Since I have been living here I have been very, very happy. I wouldn't 

want ot live anywhere else"

Some positive feedback from our Tenant Survey which is all provided anonymously:

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Creation of tenant survey champions 
Each year Homes North participates in an independent tenant satisfaction survey which is conducted by the NSW Federation 
of Housing Associations. We believe it is important to listen to what our customers have to say about our service so that we 
can work to improve our performance. Last year we achieved a satisfaction rating of 93%, so this year we encouraged our 
residents to give more feedback on where we needed to improve. We increased our response rate this year to 35% of our 
tenants which is above the average for CHPs. 

Working with our TPOs and our Tenant Advisory Groups in each town, Homes North used “Tenant Survey Champions” to assist 
any interested tenant to complete their survey. Thanks to our Tenant Survey Champions we have gained valuable comments 
and insights from our tenants.

Tenant Satisfaction Survey key areas for action
Key Area Action
 Property condition Moree • Commenced a program of replacing leasehold properties.

• Homes North identified that Moree leasehold properties were negatively impacting on 
our performance in this area. This is a merger legacy issue.  To date 16 of 31 leasehold 
properties have been replaced with better quality properties. We expect an improvement 
in this result next year.

Complaints - overall • Consultations with tenants on their experience and advice on what makes a good  
complaint management process

• Implementation of follow up surveys immediately after tenant contact

Tenant Satisfaction Survey



Our three key strategies in this previous plan foreshadowed 
much of the emphasis in “Future Directions”.  They were: 

1. Supporting Individuals 2. Strengthening Communities 3. Service Excellence

The strategies outlined in Future Directions are:
yy More social housing
yy More opportunities, support and incentives to avoid 

and/or leave social housing
yy A better social housing experience

Our 2016-2020 strategic plan builds on activities achieved or 
underway in service development, expanding our capacity and 
delivering more diverse and comprehensive housing products and 
services. These existing activities and achievements serve as an 
excellent foundation for our new strategies. 

Homes North’s Strategic Plan specifically aims to meet the outcomes, 
challenges and opportunities set out in “Future Directions”. 

Strategic Plan

To ensure the development of a clear and comprehensive 
plan that would guide our strategic direction the Board 
and staff of Homes North commenced an extensive 
consultation process in February 2016.  

This planning process revealed a strong alignment 
between the Board, staff and our communities for Homes 
North to invest in a  re-imagining of social housing and 
the expansion of our  role as a strong, viable community 
housing provider in our region. 

The outgoing 2013-2016 strategic plan has placed Homes 
North in a strong position for the changes outlined in the 
NSW Government’s “Future Directions”. 

Jo Heslin & Maree McKenzie

Future Directions

An introduction to the Strategic Plan and Homes North, jointly from the Chair and CEO

ENVIRONMENTAL
SCAN

BOARD
RETREAT

STAFF
RETREAT

STAKEHOLDER
MEETINGS

FINAL
PLAN

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND

BOARD CONSULTATIONS
ON FEEDBACK

Our 
planning 
approach

In early 2016 the NSW Government released “Future Directions” the first strategic 
plan for Social Housing in over a decade. This plan provided a key reference point 
for a review of Homes North’s strategic direction. 
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An introduction to the Strategic Plan and Homes North, jointly from the Chair and CEO

More social 
housing

More opportunities, support and 
incentives  to avoid and/or leave 

social housing

A better social housing 
experience1 2 3

Our Vision
Our vision is that every community member on low to moderate income in the New England North West region has 
a secure place to call home, and which they can independently sustain into the foreseeable future.

This vision recognises the continuum of housing needs -  from emergency and short-term accommodation to address 
homelessness, through supported and community housing, and over the long-term pathways to secure and affordable 
home ownership. Community members may move in different directions along this continuum as a result of changes to 
their financial, health and family wellbeing.

Homes for the well-being of our community

Our community members will be able to:
yy independently sustain a home into the future, and as a result 
improve their wellbeing

focused on changing what is possible 
for social and community housing

Homes North will:
yy work with individuals and the community 
across the promotion-to-prevention 
continuum that focusses on building 
strengths and reducing vulnerabilities

yy take a long-term and intergenerational 
outlook to positively change cycles of 
disadvantage, exclusion and isolation

yy provide a secure home that takes into 
account the physical, social and economic 
environment

yy ensure true security is achieved when 
there is a harmony and resilience existing 
across each of these dimensions

homes | lives  | communities

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE



Our strategic vision is 
that by 2020 . . .

 ◦ Implementing a strong relationship management 
culture across all areas of the organisation

 ◦ Measuring performance, establishing benchmarks 
and developing a shared culture of evaluation

 ◦ Understanding the housing needs in our region and developing a broad range of housing options that meet these needs
 ◦ Building our capacity to increase the supply of affordable housing, including the capacity to manage large scale and multiple developments
 ◦ Maintaining our portfolio of properties to a consistently high standard to support the wellbeing of our tenants and our ongoing financial viability

Partners will be effectively 
supporting our clients to achieve 

shared outcomes by:

Homes North’s  housing 
portfolio will be diverse, 

innovative and appropriate to 
community needs by:

 ◦ Supporting tenants’ aspirations through 
opportunity pathways

 ◦ Resourcing activities that support tenants to 
have their say about the services we offer

Clients will be engaged in 
opportunities provided by the 

services we offer through:
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 ◦ Sustaining tenancies through strong support systems and an 
early intervention culture

 ◦ Engaging in community development activities
 ◦ Actively developing and accessing opportunities for work for 
our tenants and communities

 ◦ Offering a comprehensive training program specifically 
aimed at achieving the outcomes of the strategic plan 

 ◦ Supporting the staff to achieve performance excellence
 ◦ Resourcing activities that support staff wellbeing

 ◦ Establishing a comprehensive suite of services that reflect our 
clients’ needs for the future

 ◦ Ensuring we have in place effective management techniques, 
and the tools and systems to drive efficiencies

 ◦ Maintaining strong financial management and governance 

• Providing a safe and positive environment that supports and provides growth and opportunities for our tenants
• Developing a strong communication strategy that broadcasts the positive changes in social housing and articulates the benefits it brings
• Supporting cohesive neighbourhoods and engaged communities

We will be pro-actively seeking 
opportunities that align with our vision, be 

well managed and will operate smoothly by:

Neighbourhood communities will 
be more cohesive and support the 

wellbeing of individuals by:

Our Organisation will be recognised by 
our community for our contribution to 

re-imagining social housing by:

Staff  will be highly skilled, feel valued, achieve 
positive outcomes and excel by:



SEEING VALUE
Communities valuing the role of Social Housing  

PROFILE RAISING

Raising of Homes North’s profile 

INNOVATIVE LIVING
Property developments that are innovative and support reduced living costs for tenants 

EARTH FRIENDLY
Providing environmentally responsible developments 

AFFORDABLE SOLUTIONS

Accessing affordable finance through social impact investors and other innovative market solutions

SHARING COSTSContinuing to increase our cost sharing opportunities through the Housing Alliance

DEVELOPING CAPACITYDeveloping our capacity to support social enterprises across the region

SEIZE OPPORTUNITY

Having the capacity to take advantage of appropriate opportunities as they arise

VIABLE GROWTH
Developing a viable financial model for growth

EXPAND & MAINTAIN

Expanding the business but keeping our strong customer focus, culture and values

MEETING DEMAND

Meeting predicted growing demand for high quality and affordable housing

ou
r c

ha
lle

ng
es

 ar
e 

ou
r o

pp
or

tu
nit

ies

homes | lives | communities
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Community & Affordable Housing Context

INNOVATIVE LIVING
Property developments that are innovative and support reduced living costs for tenants 

The Housing Alliance
Impact, Success, Assets & Strengths
Homes North’s continued membership and commitment to the 
Housing Alliance supports key initiatives articulated throughout 
this plan.

The Housing Alliance  is a productive partnership with two 
other large regional community housing providers; Housing 
Plus based in the Central West and North Coast Community 
Housing based in the Northern Rivers area of NSW. 

by inconsistent relative economic prosperity where 
some areas are in decline and others boom. 

Our plan provides for the development of a range of 
housing options allowing Homes North the flexibility to 
deliver housing solutions as needed and appropriate in 
each location.

Homes North has identified shared equity as an 
affordable home ownership opportunity for low to 
moderate income households across our region. By 
offering this opportunity to our tenants and others, 
Homes North will help to improve home ownership 
options and increase community stability.

The Housing Alliance has been successful in raising the profile of 
regional issues to decision makers in Government. It has delivered 
significant savings through cost sharing activities and continues to 
stimulate best practice through various business streams. 

The Housing Alliance is a unique initiative that increases our 
capacity to deliver services and innovations in this plan.

As the largest community housing provider in the New England 
North West, Homes North has a responsibility to implement 
initiatives that reflect the aims of the NSW Government’s Future 
Directions for Social Housing strategy.

The key aims of our 2016-2020 strategic plan align with and 
reflect the intent of “Future Directions”.

As part of the strategic planning process Home North undertook 
a Housing Market Analysis.  This has informed key decisions 
about the allocation of resources, the selection of initiatives and 
the building of capacity.

Homes North operates across a large geographical area with 
significant local variation in terms of housing costs, income 
levels, housing supply and social need. This variability is driven 

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE



DEVELOP OUR DYNAMIC RANGE OF HOUSING SOLUTIONS
Homes North recognises the need to be responsive to the changing housing needs of 
the New England North West.

Key aims of this strategy are:
yy Develop and acquire new properties for social and affordable housing across the New 
England North West NSW

yy Identify potential opportunities for development partnerships that align with Homes 
North’s values and vision 

yy Strengthen our development and contract management capacity

yy Identify opportunities to contribute to urban renewal 

yy Research and develop shared equity products and services to facilitate access to 
homeownership for low and moderate income households

yy Leverage collaborative advantage with the Housing Alliance and with our regional 
network of strategic partnerships.

LET OUR TENANTS GUIDE US INTO THE FUTURE
Our tenants will remain our reference point for all strategic and operational planning. 
Understanding our tenants’ experience of our service, as well as the barriers they experience 
in achieving their aspirations, is vital to ensuring we allocate resources appropriately and 
effectively. 

Key aims of this strategy are:
yy Develop an overarching Client Engagement Strategy that drives our operations

yy Initiate projects and events that connect services to clients along the housing continuum: 
Domestic and Family Violence projects; sustaining tenancy projects; projects to increase 
access to housing 

yy Address the needs of specific demographics: Aboriginal Community members, older people,  
people with disabilities, younger people 

yy Use our tenants’ experiences to inform and influence policy and improve service delivery

yy Develop tenant enterprises and support tenant initiatives

Tenant group reviewing policy

Strategies
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OPERATIONAL  EXCELLENCE
Homes North will demonstrate financial 
strength through our proven capacity to 
manage our business efficiently,  contribute 
to the development of new housing supply 
and offer our tenant excellent service. 

Key aims of this strategy are:
yy Develop and sustain a culture of operational 
excellence and continuous improvement 
including a focus on embedding project 
planning and evaluation methodology 
across the organisation

yy Professional rebranding of the organisation 
that reflects the values and commitments of 
the team

yy Develop strong communication principles 
across the organisation

yy Sustain our compliance and quality 
assurance culture and maintain 
accreditation 

yy Manage growth within a strong change and 
risk management framework 

yy Ensure corporate governance activities are 
appropriate for the nature and size of the 
business as it grows and develops 

yy Maintain robust organisational systems 
across our asset, finance and housing 
teams

yy Improve our financial position through the 
development of impact investments and 
innovative financial models

SUPPORT OUR STAFF TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE
Homes North acknowledges that our staff is the key to our success and will focus on stable and 
strong leadership across our team

Key aims of this strategy are:
yy Become an employer of choice 

 ◦ Foster professional learning and development 
 ◦ Support professional excellence and a performance culture
 ◦ Support our team’s wellbeing and resilience through growth and change
 ◦ Develop skills in change management and project management 
 ◦ Ensure our organisational structure is appropriate, robust and cohesive

yy Encourage strong, supportive and proactive leadership and teams 

SERVICE EXCELLENCE: MORE THAN JUST HOUSES
Homes North is committed to being a housing provider of choice by supporting healthy homes, 
lives and communities. Homes North recognises the importance of increasing our capacity 
across all areas of our organisation, especially in service excellence. We will maintain our 
focus on stable, strong leadership and governance. Homes North will leverage collaborative 
advantage nationally and state-wide through the Housing Alliance and regionally through our 
network of strategic partnerships.

Key aims of this strategy are:
yy Develop the capacity for growth and adaption through strong organisational systems

yy Improve our operations to optimise our support for complex clients

yy Be strategic about partner organisation relationships to develop a more dynamic approach to 
meeting shared outcomes across human services, health, education and training, and employment

yy Maintain sector leading tenant satisfaction levels and quality

yy Apply for additional funding to support the aspirations of our tenants

yy Implement our Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) to better serve our Aboriginal community members

yy Implement our Recovery Integration Plan (RIP) to better serve our clients experiencing 
challenges with their mental wellbeing

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE



Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
At Homes North we understand “corporate governance” to be the framework of rules, relationships systems and processes 
within and by which authority is exercised and controlled.  It includes the mechanisms by which companies and those in control 
are held to account.  

Our Board of Directors recognises its role in overseeing the determination and implementation of policies and processes that 
reflect good corporate governance. We recognise that we must continuously make improvements by considering, reviewing and 
testing and changing processes.

We are a registered charity under the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 (“ACNC”).  As a public 
company limited by guarantee we are regulated by the Corporations Act, but as modified by the ACNC Act.  We therefore 
recognise that the ACNC Act is the main law applicable to us in relation to corporate governance. The ACNC prescribes a set of 
corporate governance standards which we must meet to remain registered with the ACNC.

Standard 1: Purposes are not for profit in nature.  
We clearly state that the objects of our company are not for profit and are primarily to 
create secure, affordable and sensitively managed housing opportunities for low income 
households, regardless of race, creed, colour, gender or sexual orientation.

Standard 2: Accountability to members.  
We have a limited number of members to whom we are accountable.  Each year we call an annual 
meeting of members where they have opportunity to review the annual report including the audited 
financial statements, ask questions and raise concerns about how we are governed.  Directors, 
senior management and the external auditor are in attendance at that meeting.

Standard 3: Compliance with Australian law
This is defined as not committing a serious offence (such as fraud) under any Australian law or breach a law 
that may result in a penalty of 60 penalty units (currently $10,200) or more.  We comply with this standard. 

Standard 4: Suitability of responsible persons
We must take reasonable steps to: 

• be satisfied that its responsible persons (such as board or committee members) are not disqualified 
from managing a corporation under the Corporations Act or disqualified from being a responsible 
person of a registered charity by the ACNC Commissioner, and

• remove any responsible person who does not meet these requirements.
• There are currently six skills-based Directors who bring with them a variety of backgrounds in financial 

management, risk management, strategic planning, policy development, housing services, banking, 
community services, business management, large-scale residential development, education and urban, 
regional and local government planning.  Prior to acceptance of each new board member a search is 
conducted to check that they are not a disqualified person.

Standard 5: Duties of responsible persons
We take reasonable steps to make sure that the following duties apply to responsible persons and that they 
follow them:

• to act with reasonable care and diligence

• to act honestly and fairly in the best interests of the charity and for its charitable purposes
• not to misuse our position or information gained as a responsible person
• to disclose conflicts of interest
• to ensure that the financial affairs of the charity are managed responsibly, and

• not to allow the charity to operate while it is insolvent.

We have also voluntarily adopted the Australian Securities Exchanges’ Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations (ASX Principles) and applied them, insofar as it is sensible and realistic to do, even 
though we are not a listed entity.  We do this because we are a large not for profit organisation in which 
there is a high degree of public interest.Ensures properties meet our client’s needs, such as disability 
modifications for tenants with limited mobility.

• Organises planned and cyclical maintenance to the property portfolio.48 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



Homes North’s record of successful and sustainable growth is due to strong 
operational planning and clear strategic evaluation of past performances. 

This current strategic plan is based on a review of our performance against 
our previous strategic plan, with excellent progress reflected in the three 

key areas of Strengthening Communities, Supporting Individuals and 
Providing Excellent Service.

This 2016-2020 plan is building on those strengths to maintain excellent 
service and increase our ability to deliver more to support our communities. 

 Homes North will be committing additional resources to ensure we meet the 
strategies outlined in this plan.

Key strategic documents
Housing Market Analysis
Strategic Growth Plan
Strategic Asset Management Plan

www.homesnorth.org.au

External• National Registrar for Community Housing
• NSW Department of Family and Community Services

Internal
• Board of Directors
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Strategic Plan
• Risk Management Plan

• Strategic Asset Management Plan
• Annual Operational Plan and Budget
• Housing Alliance Business Plan
• Quality Improvement Plan

• Independent Tenant Satisfaction Surveys
• Complaints Management System

Service 
Users

• Reconciliation Action Plan
• Recovery Integration Plan

Governance System

Jo Heslin Chair and tenant

Rex Gream Deputy Chair, Tutti Bacon and Maree McKenzie CEO



2 par t time
Tenant Participation O�icers

5 Trainees (1 Year each)

Board of Directors

Service Development O�icer Chief Executive O�icer

Operations Manager

Executive Assistant/Compliance

Service Manager
Arm/Glen/Inv/Moree

SHM/
Team Leader

2 Housing
Managers
1 Arm,  1 Inv

3 Housing O�icers
1 Arm, 1 Glen, 1 Moree

3 Reception/Admin Assistant
1 Arm, 1 Glen, 1 Inv

Asset Manager

2 Technical O�icers

2 Asset Administrators

Manager Business Services

Management Accountant

Finance Manager

Accounts O�icer & 
Payroll

Service Manager
Gunnedah/Tamworth

SHM/Team Leader

4 Housing O�icers
1 Gunnedah
3 Tamworth

2 Reception/Admin Assistant
Tamworth

1 Housing Manager

Organisational Chart

Review of our Organisation Structure
The development of Homes North’s growth plan and the release of our Strategic Plan for the next four years led to a 
review of our current structure. The Board approved the first step in our new approach in June 2016 with the arrival of 
our new Operations Manager in August. This continual review of our organisational structure will ensure Homes North is 
prepared for the challenges of the future.
All administration, finance and reporting functions reside within our Armidale office and are managed by the Chief Executive Officer 
and Manager of Business Services. The company also has an Asset Team in Tamworth, overseen by the Asset Manager, to ensure 
the efficient management and maintenance of the asset base. Housing management is delivered through our local offices, and is 
overseen by our Operations Manager. 

Homes North is committed to retaining local offices across the New England North 
West region to ensure our service can respond effectively to community needs.
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“Had it not been for Homes North 
giving us rental accommodation 

our lives would be in a worse 
situation than today. 

Well done Homes North.” 
Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

This year’s Tenant Survey results will inform the focus of our service delivery improvement for the coming year. Our tenants have told 
us that the top three areas which have the highest levels of dissatisfaction all relate to our complaints process. Work on improving the 
management of our complaints has commenced and will continue to be a priority area for us to work on over the coming year.

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE



Board of Directors
Josephine Heslin Chairperson: May 2015  current

Appointed Appointed 15 February 2012

Current Position Manager and Coordinator, Ageing & Disability Sector

Experience Previously Project Manager in the Ageing and Disability Sector; 
Manager of an Independent Living Retirement Village; Mortgage 
Advisor and Business Owner.

Special Responsibilities Employee Liaison Officer, Housing Alliance Representative

Rex Gream Chairperson: July 2014 – April 2015

Appointed Appointed 11 April 2008

Current Position Administrative Manager – Roberts & Morrow Financial Planning

Experience Over 35 years in the banking and finance industry; board experience 
with other community welfare organisations.

 Specific experience in approving development loan applications 
including assessment of costings, progress payments and end 
valuations, monitoring of progress payments, and inspections.

Special Responsibilities Alternate Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Ian Downs Director: Appointed 1 February 2010

Current Position Education Consultant; Director of New England Girls School Ltd.; 
Director of the NSW Federation of Housing Associations; Secretary – 
Tilligerry Lions Club

Qualifications Bachelor of Arts – Sydney University, Diploma of Education – Sydney 
University, M. Ed (Hons) University of New England

Experience Principal at Farrer Memorial Agricultural High School, Tamworth and 
NEGS, Armidale; Director of Boarding – The Kings School, Parramatta; 
Chairman of Glen Innes Hospital Board; Chairman of North West 
region Aboriginal Education Advisory Board; Member of Finance 
Committee Challenge - Tamworth

Special Responsibilities Alternate Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

 “I am very proud to be the Chairperson of 
such a wonderful local & community focused 

organisation.”

“I am proud to have a long association with 
Homes North Community Housing in their 

commitment to supply good quality housing at an 
affordable price for low income families.”

  “I am totally committed to supporting the provision 
of appropriate housing opportunities for low income 

families in rural NSW.”
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Jane Michie Director: Appointed 16 June 2015

Current Position Research Support Officer – University of New England

Qualifications Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting 
– University of New England; Bachelor of Arts – Newcastle 
University; Diploma of Government (Management) – Australian 
Institute of Management

Experience Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in 
the medical, financial services, community services and local 
government sectors.

Special Responsibilities Alternate Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Dr John Kleeman Director: Appointed 30 November 2015

Qualifications Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Adelaide) – Doctor of Philosophy 
(ANU)

Experience Director/Head of institutional Planning and Strategy; and 
Academic Teaching, Research and Administration, University 
of New England. Senior office holder in a community 
organisations (voluntary).

Special Responsibilities Member Constitutional Review Sub-committee; Member 
Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group

Libby Cumming Director: Appointed 30 November 2015

Current Position Principal - New England North West Planning Services, Town 
Planning Consultancy

Qualifications Bachelor Urban and Regional Planning – University of New 
England Graduate Certificate of Local Transport Planning – 
University of New England; Graduate Certificate of Urban Land 
Development  – University of New England; Graduate Certificate 
of Environmental Design – University of New England; Graduate 
Certificate of Planning Law and Administration – University of 
New England;  Financial Management Certificate – Charles Sturt 
University;  Advanced Social Planning – Local Government Centre; 
Workplace Training (Category 1) – Central West Community 
College;  Building in Bushfire Prone Areas Certificate – University 
of Technology Sydney; Aboriginal Sites Awareness Certificate – 
NSW Aboriginal Heritage Office

Experience Thirty years of numerous diverse management roles within the 
Local Government sector across all regulatory services including 
development and building certification, health and environmental 
services, heritage, flood plain and bushfire management, 
management of internal processing and community service 
projects and strategic policy making.

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

“I joined the Board at a time when the social outcomes for 
our tenants was increasing in priority, alongside excellent 

housing provision, and Homes North was setting a new 
strategic plan. We have a real opportunity to make a 
difference, and it is a really good time to be involved.”

“Giving back to the community is very important, and 
working with Homes North allows me to use my skills 
and experience to give not only to my community but 

also across our region.”

“I’m passionate about supporting a 
organisation that understands and responds 

to the needs of its clients through local 
knowledge and employment of local people.”
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5 Application/Transfer

2 Contractor Service Quality

2 Repairs, Maintenance & Upgrades

1 Other Privacy Concerns

5 Administrative Failure

2 Management of Nuisance
       and Annoyance

4 Homes North Service Quality

2015/2016 Report Card

Over 2015/2016 
Homes North 
received a total of 

21 complaints 
that fell in to the 
following categories:

Homes North values our complaint management system and acknowledges that complaints are a vital quality control and service improvement tool. The graph 
helps us identify where we need to focus our resources, and also identifies what is important to our clients. The results will inform our next operational plan.

Rent 
Arrears
Benchmark – 4% of rent charged

Customer 
Satisfaction
Benchmark – 85% (Registrar benchmark 75%)

Complaint 
Turnaround Time
Benchmark – 28 days

2.8% 83% 23 days

2015/2016 Performance 2015/2016 Performance 2015/2016 Performance

Our housing staff have achieved great results in the indicators that show we are sustaining tenancies - low rent 
arrears and almost a quarter of our portfolio is receiving assistance to sustain tenancies.
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“I have lived in my house for 29 years and 
love it here . I had to move so many times 

before I got this house and have loved 
being in it .” 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Supported 
Tenancies
Benchmark – 18%

Vacant Tenantable* 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrar of Community Housing definition)
Benchmark – 14 days

Vacant Un-Tenantable** 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrar of Community Housing definition)
Benchmark – 28 days 

23% 18.5 days 49.9 days***

* Vacant Tenantable refers to properties that are ready to be occupied 
** Vacant Un-Tenantable refers to void properties that require significant upgrade works to be completed before they can be re-tenanted, 

*** Our Vacant Un-Tenantable Turnaround figures for 2015/2016 are well above the Registrar’s benchmark. During the financial year Homes North had three long term vacancies subject to 
protracted insurance claims that could not be tenanted during this time.  

NOTE: Properties awaiting sale and properties damaged by fire not included in these figures

2015/2016 Performance 2015/2016 Performance 2015/2016 Performance

“Very beautiful ladies in the office. They have a lot 
of respect and kindness in everything they do for 
me. They are nice people that help with anything 

that needs to be done for my home.” 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

2015/2016 Report Card



Where does our money go?

10% 
Routine Repairs and Maintenances

10% 
Property Upgrades

2% 
Property, Plant
& Equipment

27%
Service Delivery Sta�ing Costs

24%
Leasehold property rent paid

16% 
Direct Property Costs including 

rates, insurance and common area
maintenance

5%
AdministrativeOverheads

3%
Loan Repayment

3% 
Investment in
new properties

O u r  s t a t i s t i c s  d e m o n s t r a t e  w e  a r e  a s s i s t i n g  o u r  c o m m u n i t y  m e m b e r s  m o s t  i n  n e e d

Who did we help this year?
In the year 2015/2016 In the year 2015/2016 In the year 2015/2016

86 
new tenancies who  
were young people 
[25 years and under] 

218  
new tenancies in 
greatest need 
at the time of 
allocation (85%)

255 
new households

Greatest need is defined as:
People who are homeless or imminently homeless; those living in crisis accommodation
People whose life or safety is at risk in their current accommodation
People whose health condition is aggravated by their housing
People whose housing is inappropriate to their needs
People with very high rental housing costs i.e. those who paid more than 41% of their income in rent at time of allocation
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 394    55 years and over  (24%)

 529    26 - 54 years  (32%)

708    25 years and younger  (43%)

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Where does our money come from?

8%
Borrowings

35% 
Rent - Capital Properties

16% 
Rent - Leasehold Properties

3%
Rent - Capital Transitional3% 

Rent - A�ordable Housing

22%
Rent - Owned (HN & Stimulus)
Properties

13%
Leasehold Government Grant Subsidy

1% 
Fee for service

2015/2016 Report Card

In the year 2015/2016 In the year 2015/2016In the year 2015/2016

As at 30th June 2016

77  
Greatest Need 
Disabled (35%)

78  
Greatest Need 
Youth (46%)

100  
Greatest Need 
Indigenous (46%)

537   
Residents with 
a disability (33%)

As at 30th June 2016 

671 
Residents who are 
Indigenous

Residents as at 30th June 2016 by age:    



Homes North Asset Services Team is responsible for maintaining 
properties, both owned and managed, to a standard that ensures 
compliance with:

• The Residential Tenancies Act

• Australian Standards

• Building Code of Australia

• Local Council requirements; and

• where applicable Land and Housing Corporation asset 
performance standards 6.2i

The Asset Team
• Ensures properties meet our client’s needs, such as disability 

modifications for tenants with limited mobility

• Organises planned and cyclical maintenance to the property 
portfolio

• Oversees and organises responsive maintenance to the 
property portfolio

• Assesses the ongoing viability and performance of an asset

• Manages insurance claims, which may include the complete 
rebuild of a property destroyed by fire

• Develops guiding documents such as the Asbestos register, 
Development Manual and policies and procedures

• Ensure contractor compliance to Homes North contracts and 
WHS legislation

• Develops and acquires new properties

• Selects and engages contractors to complete maintenance and 
new building works

Asset Report 
2015/2016

• Commencement of new 6 unit development at 2-4 
Stephen St in Armidale. As at reporting date the project 
is 80% complete. 

• Commencement of planned maintenance works Glen 
Innes and Tenterfield portfolio

• Scoping of planned maintenance work for the 
Gunnedah portfolio

• Undertaking scheduled planned maintenance on our 
Affordable Housing portfolio

• Planning for the Sustainable Social Housing and Training 
project with Best Practice Constructions, TAFE and 
Joblink Plus 

• Working with the Tenant Participation Officers to secure 
funding to construct a communal pergola at a unit 
complex in Gunnedah and fencing in Glen Innes

Glen Innes and Tenterfield Planned maintenance project 
As at date of reporting

Glen Innes
90 of 92 properties have been scoped.
9 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”.
81 upgrades have been completed.

Tenterfield
All 45 properties have been scoped.
4 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”.
41 upgrades have been completed.

Gunnedah Planned maintenance project
As at 13/10/16

 31 of 161 properties have been scoped.
 13 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”.
 7 upgrades have been completed.

Affordable housing planned maintenance project
As at 13/10/16

26 of 27 properties have been scoped.
13 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”.
13 upgrades have been completed.

Highlights 2015 / 2016
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Sustainable Social Housing and 
Training project with Best Practice 
Construction, TAFE and Joblink Plus 
Homes North is in the planning stages with Best Practice 
Constructions, TAFE, Joblink Plus, and the Tamworth 
Regional Council on a collective impact project that 
combines training, employment and environmental 
responsibility with new affordable housing supply. 

This project is the brainchild of Noretta Terry the owner of 
Best Practice Constructions and proposes the construction 
of environmentally sustainable social housing properties. 
These dwellings are to be built with the help of people 
seeking an opportunity to work. They will be selected by 
Joblink Plus and supervised and trained by TAFE with the 
intent to complete an apprenticeship and gain a trade. 

The construction will be overseen and licenced by Best 
Practice Constructions. 

Homes North plans to finance the building of the homes 
and manage the social and affordable housing tenancies 
of the completed dwellings.

Overall maintenance expenditure 2015 / 2016
Total expenditure $1,470,543

Cyclic maintenance $243,157

Planned maintenance $606,849

Responsive maintenance $620,537

“The staff  I speak to have always been courteous and 
polite and act immediately at a request. I don't contact 
Homes North unless it is a must. I am very happy to be 

one of their tenants. Thank you.”

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

142 
upgrades have been completed 

in total



The audited financial statements for Homes 
North show a surplus of $1.9 million (2014-15 
surplus $1.8 million). The surplus includes:

How our properties are valued
The carrying value of all properties where title is held by Homes North 
is measured by obtaining an initial external independent valuation 
for financial statement purposes. Every property is then revalued by 
an external independent valuer once every three years. The average 
increase or decrease in independent valuations is then applied as a 
director’s valuation to the remaining property portfolio on an annual 
basis to make up the carrying value of properties.  

It is anticipated that independent valuations for these properties will 
continue to increase in line with the property market.  The Company 
has a policy of obtaining independent property valuations for every 
owned property on a rolling basis once every three years. This means 
1/3 of the portfolio is independently valued on an annual basis.  Annual 
increments/decrements are then applied as a director’s valuation to 
the remaining portfolio by location. 

Commitment to purchase 30 properties over 10 Years.
Homes North’s commitment to purchase 30 freehold properties 
over 10 years under the Housing NSW vested title agreement is 
well underway.  Over the year the Company settled on a further 4 
properties, 2 located in Armidale and 2 in Tamworth, and a deposit 
was paid on a block of land located in Armidale.  As at 30 June 2016, 
the company held title to 19 properties under this programme and 
commenced the building and development of six 2 and 3 bedroom 
units located in Armidale with expected completion December 
2016.  It is anticipated that construction will commence on a further 5 
properties during the 2016-2017 financial year.

Financial Summary

$1.0 million Revaluation This increment is made up of: a 2.7% 
($879,199) increase in the valuation relating 
to the 250 (NBESP) properties; and a 2% 
($115,003) increase in the valuation of Homes 
North’s 19 freehold properties where title was 
held as at 30 June 2016.

$0.9 million  Underlying surplus If we exclude the effect of revaluations of 
property the current year surplus is $898,722 
(2015, surplus $355,201). Overall rental income 
has increased by 3% and tenancy property 
and management expenses have declined 
by 7%.
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Bank Loan Facility (for the purpose of meeting 
leveraging commitments)
Homes North has a $3 million long term bank loan finance facility 
secured by owned properties currently valued at $6.3 million.  
During the year the loan facility was repaid and then drawn down 
leaving a balance of $1 million at year end.   The Armidale 6 unit 
development, with estimated completion date of December 
2016, is being funded from a mixture of retained earnings and 
borrowings. An indicator of financial viability is the working 
capital ratio, our ratio was 1.7:1 at June 2016, which exceeds the 
benchmark of 1.5:1. The Company plans to undertake further 
property development activities and will ensure we maintain our 
strong financial position.

Planned Maintenance
As at 30 June 2016 Homes North was responsible for the planned 
maintenance of 714 capital properties. Each year a provision 
for planned maintenance of $1,500 per property less actual 
expenditure is transferred to a reserve.  The aim is to allocate 
funds to enable a 25 years planned maintenance program to 
be implemented that ensures capital properties are maintained 
at or above the required standards.  The accumulated reserves 
associated with this provision now total $1.3 million ($1,824 per 
property) as at 30 June 2016.  

Any dealings I have had with Homes 
North have been dealt with properly 
and the staff has been very helpful , 

polite and extremely friendly.

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Ongoing Implementation of a new Integrated 
Technology System
In August 2015 the final implementation phase of the new 
integrated technology went live. The housing and finance systems 
which went live indepenently the previous year were integrated in 
2016. The 2016-2017 financial year will see us focus on increasing 
the capacity and efficiency of processes in the organisation and 
begin to utilise the benefits of the system.

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE
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Directors’ Report
The directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“The Company”)  
present this report for the year ended 30 June 2016.
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Ms Libby Cumming (Appointed 30 November 2015)

Mr Ian Downs

Mr Rex Gream

Ms Margaret Hansell (Resigned 22 February 2016)

Ms Josephine Heslin 

Dr John Kleeman (Appointed 30th November 2015)

Mr Malcolm McGown (Resigned 30 November 2015)

Ms Jane Michie

Mr Johan Mouthaan (Resigned 30 November 2015) 

The directors have all been in office since the start of the financial year unless otherwise stated.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was to provide secure, appropriate and affordable rental housing sensitively 
managed for people on low incomes who are disadvantaged in gaining access to or maintaining a tenancy, and or are at risk of homelessness.

Short and Long Term Objectives
The company’s short-term and long-term objectives are to:

•y Provide community members who are limited in their capacity to access 
safe, appropriate and affordable accommodation with a range of 
housing solutions.

•y Provide housing management and other services that support 
community members to sustain their tenancy, wellbeing and 
independence.

•y Develop strong partnerships with local agencies and service providers 
to strengthen and build on a client-centred and outcomes-focused 
service delivery model.

•y Continually improve and expand our service at all levels, including 
adapting and innovating in ways that ensure we achieve a broad range 
of positive outcomes for the disadvantaged in our communities.

•y Implement a life-cycle plan for the disposal and replacement of 
properties to ensure the value of the Company’s portfolio, and a high 
standard of housing provision, is maintained. Continue to increase 
the supply of housing where rent is based on a community member’s 
financial capacity and not only on financial return.

•y Raise awareness of housing-related issues in the region.

Strategic and Operational plans
The Company achieves its short and long term objectives by 
developing 3-4 year strategic plans. A detailed operational 
plan maps out activities that will be undertaken each year of 
the plan.

In addition the Company’s Strategic Asset Management Plan 
ensures our housing portfolio aims to meet the specific needs 
within the regions where we operate. The plan includes 
analysis of housing markets and underpins decisions around 
acquisitions and disposals. It is also used to inform the 25 
year planned maintenance schedule.

64 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTSStrategy 2013-2016

The Company’s strategic plans outline how these stated objectives are to be met.  
The Company’s annual operational plan outlines specific activities to be undertaken in the year that will contribute to meeting the 
longer term objectives in the strategic plan.

In addition the Company’s Strategic Asset Management Plan ensures our housing portfolio aims to meet the specific needs within the 
region. The plan analyses the housing markets in New England and North West NSW and underpins decisions around acquisitions and 
disposals. It is also used to inform the 25 year planned maintenance schedule.

Report on progress against our Operational Plan 2015-2016:

Strategy 2013-2016:

1. Strengthening Communities
Homes North will provide leadership in New England and North West NSW on social and affordable housing issues, acting as the region’s 
leading community anchor

Strategic objective Operational activities undertaken 2015-2016

 1.1   Raise the profile of the role and 
potential of community housing 
and Homes North in the region

•y Throughout 2015-16 Homes North continued to gain considerable media exposure across all 
mediums through local radio, television and newspaper interviews, commentary and stories all 
highlighting the value of affordable, quality housing, and associated services, to the community.

•y Homes North staff at all levels participated, and in some cases led, key community forums across the 
New England and North West that aim to improve services to disadvantaged community members.

•y Discussions held at a local Council level on affordable housing initiatives.

•y Several presentations at high profile State-wide housing-related conferences.

1.2   Initiating projects and events 
that connect services to clients 
along the housing continuum

•y Continued with our strategy of co-locating our offices with associated service providers including 
homelessness services. 

•y Participated in regional operational forums focused on developing connected up services to clients 
experiencing homelessness. 

•y Commenced development of a shared equity housing product.

•y New affordable housing development in Armidale under construction at the end of 2015-16, and 
planning for an additional affordable housing development in Tamworth commenced.

•y Project leader of the Housing Alliance’s initiative to develop of an Australian equivalent of the UK 
Social Value Bank, which supports methodologies that seek to include wellbeing values in the design 
and evaluation of interventions.

•y Successful in obtaining funding to build infrastructure that supports community interaction in areas of 
social housing concentration.

Our 2015-16 report against our operational plan is the final operational report 
against our 2013-16 Strategic Plan:



2. Supporting Individuals
2.1   Providing services to specific 

groups in housing need within 
the region

•y Accessed funding from Partners in Recovery to roll out training across the human services network 
in the New England North West on managing and providing support to tenancies where hoarding 
becomes a challenge. In addition a specialist hoarding management consultant mentored staff 
on supporting particular clients and developed specific processes for supporting tenants where 
hoarding threatens wellbeing and safety. 

•y Accessed funding from Partners in Recovery to develop a Recovery Integration Plan that aims to re-
frame how our organisation supports a recovery approach to mental illness.

•y Funded housing management staff to attain qualifications  in providing services to key groups: aged, 
youth, people experiencing mental illness, people experiencing domestic violence.

•y Developed in consultation with Freeman House a new transitional housing programme in Armidale 
for clients exiting rehabilitation.

•y Developed a Reconciliation Action Plan to ensure our services are culturally appropriate for 
Aboriginal people and services.

•y The Board committed to adopting the new Aboriginal Competency Standards for Community Housing 
Providers and work commenced on implementing the standards.

•y Partnered with Meals on Wheels on an OzHarvest initiative to provide surplus supermarket food to 
our clients in need.

•y Ongoing monitoring of NDIS rollout to ensure Homes North is supporting our clients to access 
services. Staff have attended many workshops, forums and update sessions. Staff have assisted 
individual clients to access advocates and services.

3. Providing Excellent Service
Homes North will continue to be recognised by our tenants and peer organisations for the quality of service we provide

3.1 Develop and implement a 
revitalised tenant participation 
structure

•y Two new part-time positions created in the previous financial year to focus on tenant relations have 
now become embedded in the way we manage service delivery, community engagement and tenant 
participation.

•y Tenant Participation Officers’ activities are helping to sustain tenancies through social inclusion 
activities.

•y Tenant groups are now regularly meeting and are focused on a range of dynamic projects and 
initiatives that meet the needs of their specific communities.

•y Survey champion project initiated which saw tenant leaders encouraging participation in our tenant 
satisfaction survey. The initiative resulted in a 10% increase in take up of the survey ensuring a wider 
range of voices influencing our planning and service improvement strategies. 

•y Feedback from tenant participation activities continues to directly improve service delivery.

3.2  Develop and sustain a culture 
of operational excellence by 
transitioning the operations 
of the organisation out of 
a period of rapid growth 
and consolidation to one of 
continual improvement

•y Growth readiness diagnostic completed by an external consultant and a growth readiness plan 
developed and implemented. The plan included a review of the senior management tier of the 
organisation. As a result a new key role, Operations Manager, has been created to support the 
continued improvement, growth and diversification of the business.

•y Bedded down new integrated software acquired in 2014-15.

•y Additional resources applied to the development and review of policies.

•y Adopted a traineeship programme, appointed three new trainees and successfully transitioned one 
trainee to a permanent housing management role.

3.3 Develop a consistent culture 
of service excellence and 
continual improvement

•y Organisation-wide customer service training completed.

•y Customer service standards working group formed and work is underway to develop the standards in a 
consultative way.

•y Supported staff to obtain professional qualifications in social housing.

•y Retained our status as a registered Community Housing provider through a sound compliance assessment.

•y Conducted the annual tenant satisfaction survey.

•y Implemented initiatives to support environmental sustainability – recycling, hybrid vehicle purchase, 6 ½ 
star rated housing development.
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3.4 Maintain a consistent 
performance culture across all 
sections and locations

•y The implementation of new software impeded progress in timely, consistent and accurate reporting on key 
performance indicators. Significant improvements have been realised early in 2016

•y A human resources consultant was engaged to support ongoing maintenance of a performance culture 
and review workforce requirements to ensure goals in the new strategic plan are met

•y Key focus of the new position of Operations Manager is maintaining a performance culture

•y Initiatives implemented to support staff wellbeing

3.5 Professionalise the image of the 
service

•y Completed stage one of a re-branding strategy. New logo, tag lines, uniforms, stationary and merchandise 
developed for the Company

3.6 Integrate asset services into 
admin/finance and housing 
management

•y New integrated software ensures integration of asset, housing and finance data and allows for greater 
analysis and monitoring

3.7 Meet Nation Building acquisition 
targets for 2015-16

•y As at 30 June 2016, 19 properties have been acquired under the programme, the target was 20. A 6 unit 
new development in Armidale, NSW, set for completion at the end of 2016 will place Homes North well in 
excess of the target of 21 for the 2016/17 financial year

3.8 Ensure corporate governance 
activities are appropriate for the 
nature and size of the business 
as it grows and develops

•y The Company’s new strategic plan 2016-20 was developed following an extensive consultation and 
analysis process

•y The Audit and Risk Committee performance and charter was reviewed

•y Directors participated in a professionally facilitated Board retreat which included a review of Board 
performance, study tour of Tamworth, review of progress against the Company’s Strategic Plan and 
growth scenario planning

3.9 Maintain a robust system of 
governance

•y Director’s participated in a full day workshop to review the Company’s Board Charter and Director’s 
handbook. The workshop was facilitated by a governance expert

•y Five Directors attended the 2016 Better Boards conference which focused on innovation.

•y Induction of new Directors

•y Directors networked with fellow Directors from the Housing Alliance Boards

•y Manager Business Services continued to undertake professional studies in a Graduate Diploma in 
Corporate Governance

3.10 Working in partnership with the 
Housing Alliance to build the 
resilience and independence of 
Homes North

•y Commenced the development of a social value bank for Australia which will provide a robust and efficient 
way of measuring the social impact of an organisation’s various interventions and activities 

•y Registered a special purpose vehicle to develop and launch the Australian Social Value Bank 

•y Held the Housing Alliance annual forum to set the group’s strategic direction

•y Continued a range of collaborative activities to enhance the operations of Housing Alliance members, 
including the ongoing development of the peer-to-peer networks that support cost saving initiatives, 
information sharing and best practice

3. Providing Excellent Service (continued)

Operational and financial ($) ($) ($) ($)

Expenditure on repairs & maintenance does not exceed budget average per property 822 700 1,396 700

Planned and Cyclical maintenance does not exceed budget average per property **1,190 1,500 1,412 1,500

% of Capital properties at Housing NSW Asset Standards 99% 70% 98% 70%

Working Capital Ratio 1.7:1 1.5:1

Repairs and maintenance relates to priority repairs and maintenance.
Planned maintenance relates to replacement of items after fair wear and tear such as kitchens, bathrooms, stoves, hot water services etc. Cyclical maintenance 
includes regular items such as annual smoke alarm, hot water thermostat testing and replacement and pest inspections.
**The planned maintenance budget was underspent due the need to procure alternative qualified and professional contractors in Glen Innes and Tenterfield. As at the 
date of reporting contractors have been engaged and 95% of the outstanding work has been completed, additionally the 2016/2017 scheduled planned maintenance 
rollout has not been negatively impacted.
Working capital ratio is also called the current ratio. It is the relative proportion of the company’s current assets to its current liabilities. It provides an indication of a 
business’s ability to pay its current liabilities with current assets and is used as a measure of liquidity.



New Strategic Plan 2016 -2020

Key Performance Indicators
The Company measures its performance through the use of quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. The benchmarks are used by the directors to 
assess the financial sustainability of the company and whether the company’s short and long term objectives are being achieved.

In early 2016 the NSW Government released “Future Directions”, the first strategic plan for Social Housing in over a decade. This plan provided 
a key reference point for a review of Homes North’s strategic direction. As a result our new strategic plan has as a clear focus on supporting 
individuals to sustain tenancies, improve their wellbeing and gain financial independence. We will continue to ensure we provide excellent service.

The Company’s new strategic plan for 2016-20 was developed throughout the year and involved an extensive consultation and review process.

Our strategic vision is that by 2020:

•y Our clients will be engaged in the opportunities 
provided by the services we offer

•y Our neighbourhood communities will be more 
cohesive and support the wellbeing of individuals

•y Our staff will be highly skilled, feel valued, achieve 
positive outcomes and excel 

•y Our partners will be effectively supporting our 
clients to achieve shared outcomes

•y Our organisation will be proactively seeking opportunities, 
be well managed and operate smoothly

•y Our housing portfolio will be diverse, innovative and 
appropriate to community needs

•y Social Housing in the New England North West will be 
re-imagined and valued by the community 

 2016 2015
Tenancy Management Actual Benchmark Actual Benchmark

Rent arrears 2.8% 4.0% 3.3% 4.0%

Customer satisfaction rating 
(Registrar min benchmark 75%)

83% ***75% 89% 85%

Supported tenancies as a % of all 
tenancies

23% 18% 17% 18%

Complaints to be managed within 
reasonable timeframe
(Note: Benchmark changed from 28 working 
days to 28 days in 2014)

23 days ***28 days
25  

working days
28 

working days

Vacant tenantable 18.5 days ***14 days 26 days    14 days

*Vacant un-tenantable 49.9 days 28 days 48 days    28 days

**Vacant other 25 days 42 days

*Vacant un-tenantable relates to void properties that require significant capital upgrade works to be completed before they  can be re-tenanted.
  Note: Registrar minimum benchmark is 21 days for vacants and voids combined.
**Vacant other: The benchmark is 42 days for those with third party allocation rights - eg is dependent upon nominations
  or selection by another agency 
***Registrar minimum benchmarks
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Directors’ Report Cont. 13
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

Crowe Horwath Central North 
ABN 91 680 058 554 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

90 Rusden Street 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 
PO Box 660 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 

Tel 02 6776 5100  
Fax 02 6772 9492 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 
ABN 78 014 531 758 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 60-40 OF THE AUSTRALIAN 
CHARITIES AND NOT-FOR-PROFITS COMMISSION ACT 2012  

TO THE DIRECTORS OF HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2016, there have 
been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Crowe Horwath Central North 

Kylie Ellis 
Partner 
90 Rusden St  
Armidale NSW 2350 
Dated: 9 November 2016 

Crowe Horwath Central North  is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a sepa rate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by  a scheme approved under Professional St andards Legislation other than for the ac ts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 



Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 12 meetings of directors were held and 4 Audit and Risk Board Subcommittee meetings were held. 
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Directors’ Meetings Audit and Risk Board Sub-Committee
Number Attended Eligible to Attend Number Attended Eligible to Attend

Rex Gream 11 12 1 1
Josephine Heslin 12 12 N/A N/A
Ian Downs 11 12 4 4
Margaret Hansell 5 8 3 3
Malcolm McGown 7 7 N/A N/A
Johan Mouthaan 6 7 2 2
Jane Michie 11 12 2 2
John Kleeman 4 5 N/A N/A
Libby Cumming 4 5 N/A N/A

Information on Directors  
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Company Secretary
Neil Scholes-Robertson was appointed Company Secretary in November 2015 and continues in office as at the date of this report. 
Neil joined the Company as the Manager of Business Services in 2012 and continues in that role. Neil is a qualified accountant and 
has a broad accounting and teaching background which includes experience in the not for profit industry.

Corporate Info & Members’ Guarantee
The Company is a ‘not for profit’ entity, registered as a company limited by guarantee under the Australian Charities and Not for 
Profit Commission (“ACNC”) and Australian Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”). It does not issue shares to its members. 
Under its constitution the Company does not have the capacity to issue dividends to its members. Any surplus on winding up is to be 
distributed to an organisation with similar objects as dictated by the Constitution. If the Company is wound up, the Constitution states 
that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards any outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 June 
2016 the number of members was 15 (2015—13 members).

 Libby Cumming Director – Appointed 30 November 2015
 Current position: Principal – New England North West Planning Services, Town Planning Consultancy
 Qualifications: Graduate Certificate of Local Transport Planning – University of New England; Graduate Certificate of Urban Land 

Development  – University of New England; Graduate Certificate of Environmental Design – University of New England; 
Graduate Certificate of Planning Law and Administration – University of New England;  Financial Management 
Certificate – Charles Sturt University;  Advanced Social Planning – Local Government Centre; Workplace Training 
(Category 1) – Central West Community College;  Building in Bushfire Prone Areas Certificate – University of Technology 
Sydney; Aboriginal Sites Awareness Certificate – NSW Aboriginal Heritage Office

 Experience: Thirty years of numerous diverse management roles within the Local Government sector of all regulatory services 
including development and building certification, health and environmental services, heritage, flood plain and bushfire 
management, management of internal processing and community service projects and strategic policy making.  

 Ian Downs Director – Appointed 1 February 2010
 Current position: Education Consultant; Director of NSW Federation of Housing Associations; Secretary, Tillgerry Lions Club
 Experience: Financial Services. Over 35 years in the banking and finance industry
 Special Responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee (Appointed Chair - February 2016)
 Qualifications: Bachelor of Arts - Sydney University. Diploma of Education - Sydney University; M.Ed. (Hons) University of New England
 Experience: Principal Farrer Memorial Agricultural High School Tamworth, and  New England Girls School, Armidale; Director of 

Boarding - The King’s School Parramatta; Chairman of Glen Innes Hospital Board.

 Rex Gream Chair (July 15 - April 16) – Appointed 11 April 2008
 Current position: Administrative Manager – Roberts & Morrow Financial Planning
 Experience: Financial Services. Over 35 years in the banking and finance industry
 Special Responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee (Appointed Chair - February 2016)

 Johan (Hans) Mouthaan Director – Appointed 19 May 2014
 Current position: Retired
 Qualifications: Trade and Building Certificate
 Experience: Extensive project home Management
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Auditor’s independence
The auditor’s declaration of independence appears on page 12 and forms part of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Signed in accordance with the resolution of directors. 

Josephine Heslin (Chair) 

Dated this 18th day of October 2016

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Corporate Governance
The Company, although it has no legal obligation to do so, endorses the relevant Corporate Governance principles and recommendations 
published by the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council.  The Company also meets the governance standards 
prescribed by the Australian Charities and not for profits Commission.  These standards require charities to remain charitable, operate 
lawfully, and be run in an accountable and responsible way.  

An Audit and Risk Board Sub-committee is responsible for assisting the board of directors to fulfil their oversight responsibilities relating 
to: financial reporting process; system of internal control; system of  risk management; internal audit processes; external audit processes; 
Chief Executive Officer remuneration including establishment and monitoring of Key Performance Indicators; establishment of company 
processes to monitor compliance with external laws and regulations; and monitor codes of conduct.

 Josephine Heslin Chair (April 16 - June 16) – Appointed 15 February 2012
 Current position: Manager & Coordinator, Aged & Disability Sector
 Experience: Previously: Project Manager, Ageing & Disability Sector, 

Manager Independent Living Retirement Village, Mortgage advisor; and Business owner
 Special Responsibilities: Employee Liaison Officer; Initial Representative Director – Alliance Social Enterprises Co. Ltd

 Margaret Hansell Director – Appointed 10 October 2011 (Resigned 22 February 2016)
 Current position: Consultant, Insurance and Risk Management, Partner Bindawalla B&B: Bindawalla Beef Production
 Qualifications: Graduate Certificate of Management (University of New England) Bachelor of Commerce (University of New 

England) Fellow, Australian & New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance (ANZIIF); Certificate IV Workplace 
Assessment and Training

 Experience: Various roles with Allianz, GIO and Marsh Insurance and Risk Management
 Special Responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee (Resigned February 2016)

 John Kleeman Director – Appointed November 2015
 Experience: Director/head of institutional planning and strategy; and academic teaching, research and administration, 

University of New England. Senior office holder in community organisations (voluntary).
 Qualifications:  Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Adelaide); Doctor of Philosophy (ANU)
 Special Responsibilities: Member Constitutional Review Sub-committee; Member Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group

 Malcolm McGown Director – Appointed  November 2009 (Resigned 30 November 2015)
 Experience: Extensive small business experience
 Qualifications: Diploma in Agriculture (Hons); Real Estate Practice Certificate
 Special Responsibilities: Company Secretary – Appointed November 2009 resigned 30 November 

 Jane Michie  Director – Appointed 16 June 2015
 Current position: Research Support Officer, UNE
 Qualifications: Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting) - University of New England; Bachelor of Arts - 

Newcastle University; Diploma of Government (Management) - Australian Institute of Management
 Experience: Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in the medical, financial services, community services 

and local government sectors.



Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
For the Year ended 30 June 2016

Note
2016

($)
2015

($)

Revenue 2 9,787,525 9,434,004

Fair value gains/(losses) on revaluation of 
land and buildings

a) Refer note  
below

994,202 1,447,814

Transfer of net assets/liabilities on merger Nil (339,186)

Tenancy and property management expenses (5,231,175) (5,628,221)

Employee Benefits expense (2,431,534) (2,285,130)

Depreciation and Amortisation (95,828) (87,802)

Doubtful Debts movement in provision (258,273) (76,278)

Vehicle Running expense (47,984) (51,051)

Fuel, light, and power expense (22,579) (20,714)

Rental expense on Operating Lease (130,934) (129,598)

Training expense (100,396) (90,389)

Audit, Legal and consultancy expense (122,785) (37,685)

Administration expense (427,659) (303,225)

Interest expense (6,881)    (19,254)    

Other Expense (12,773) (10,271)

Profit for the year 1,892,924 1,803,015

Other Comprehensive income

Fair value of Properties (NBESP) vested  under 
leveraged asset agreement

Nil Nil

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,892,924 1,803,015

Notes
a) All properties where title was transferred under the vested asset National Building Economic 

Stimulus program were independently re-valued in June 2013.  One third of these properties in 
each location were then independently valued again in June 2014, June 2015 and again in June 
2016.  The annual revaluation of 1/3 of the portfolio is then applied to the remainder of the portfolio 
by director’s valuation.  This revaluation has been booked through profit and loss in compliance 
with Australian Accounting Standards.

The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2016

Note
2016

($)
2015

($)

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,577,905 627,697

Trade and other receivables 4 904,879 291,377

Other assets 5 79,872 28,251

Total current assets 5 2,562,656 947,325

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 408,326 344,949

Intangible assets 7 96,914 89,855

Investment Property 8 6,277,453 5,865,711

Investment Property—restricted 8 33,842,676 32,963,477

Total non-current assets 40,625,369 39,263,993

Total Assets 43,188,025 40,211,318

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 503,824 519,423

Borrowings 10 4,999 257,600

Provision – Employee Benefits 11 280,044 286,731

Other liabilities 12 717,111 392,023

Total current liabilities 1,505,978 1,455,777

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 10 1,000,000 Nil

Provision - Employee Benefits 11 132,998 99,415

Total non-current liabilities 1,132,998 99,415

Total Liabilities 2,638,976 1,555,192

Net Assets 40,549,050 38,656,126

Funds

Retained Earnings 39,246,336 37,559,406

Reserves 13 1,302,714 1,096,720

Total Funds 40,549,050 38,656,126

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes



Statement of changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Retained 
Earnings

($)

Planned Maintenance 
reserve 

($)

Total
 

($)

Balance at 30 June 2014 35,819,634 1,033,477 36,853,111

Surplus/(deficit) 1,803,015 Nil 1,803,015

Transfers (63,243) 63,243 Nil

Balance at 30 June 2015 37,559,406 1,096,720 38,656,126

Surplus/(deficit) 1,892,924 Nil 1,892,924

Transfers (205,994) 205,994 Nil

Balance at 30 June 2016 39,246,336 1,302,714 40,549,050

The statement of changes in funds is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes
Refer Note 1 (u) Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. This note discloses the change in the way planned maintenance 

reserves are accounted for and quantifies the effect of restating prior year comparisons.

Corporate Information
The Financial Statements of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“the Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2016 were 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 18th October 2016.

The financial statements cover the Company as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company is a company 
limited by guarantee.

1. Summary of accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
Homes North Community Housing Company Limited applies Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), the 
Corporations Act 2001, and Australian Charities and Not for Profit Commission (“ACNC”). The company is a not-for-profit entity for 
financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements 
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

Historical cost Convention

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except where stated otherwise.  

Currency

The Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars.

(b)  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Financial Statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Impairment of assets

The Company assesses the impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead 
to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use 
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. In assessing recoverable 
amounts the directors have applied the specific sections of the standards applicable to not-for-profit entities in Australia.

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

Statement of changes in Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note    2016 
  ($)

2015 
($)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from rental income 7,455,657 7,967,451

Cash receipts from grants and other income 1,382,730 1,239,571

Interest received 13,012 14,258

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (8,190,334) (8,819,977)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 661,065 401,303

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of  property, plant and equipment (12,727) 4,091
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (140,810) (125,504)

Purchase of investment property (297,838) (1,109,979)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (451,375) (1,231,392)

Cash flows from financing activities 990,518 683,915

Repayment of borrowings (250,000) (450,000)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 740,518 233,915
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 950,208 (596,174)

 Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 627,697 1,223,870
 Cash and Cash equivalents at end of financial year 3 1,577,905 627,697
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Corporate Information
The Financial Statements of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“the Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2016 were 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 18th October 2016.

The financial statements cover the Company as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company is a company 
limited by guarantee.

1. Summary of accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
Homes North Community Housing Company Limited applies Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), the 
Corporations Act 2001, and Australian Charities and Not for Profit Commission (“ACNC”). The company is a not-for-profit entity for 
financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements 
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

Historical cost Convention

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except where stated otherwise.  

Currency

The Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars.

(b)  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Financial Statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Impairment of assets

The Company assesses the impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead 
to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use 
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. In assessing recoverable 
amounts the directors have applied the specific sections of the standards applicable to not-for-profit entities in Australia.

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016



(c) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the Company is legally entitled to the income and the amount can be quantified with reasonable 
accuracy. Revenues are recognised net of the amounts of goods and services tax (GST) payable to the Australian Taxation Office.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis as rent falls due.

Tenancy management services (Fee for Service Income)

Tenancy management services revenue is recognised on an accruals basis in line with service provision. The fee for service 
income received is the only revenue recognised. At balance date, any other monies on hand in relation to a specific fee for service 
provision are held in trust and classified as a liability.

Government grant funding (includes both ongoing grants and one-off capital grants)

Unconditional government grants are recognised in the profit or loss as other income when the grant becomes receivable.

Other Grants received are initially recognised as a deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they will 
be received and that the company will comply with the conditions associated with the Grant. Revenue is then recognised in the 
profit and loss on a systematic basis as services are performed and expenses are incurred or conditions are fulfilled.

Interest income

Investment income comprises interest. Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

Other income

Non-operating, other income is recognised as revenue when received.

(d) Expenditure
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs related to 
the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a particular category they have been allocated to activities on a basis 
consistent with use of the resources.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and cash equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

(f) Monies held in trust
The Company provides other corporations with a fee for service property and/or tenancy management service for which a 
management service fee is charged. To the extent that rent is held over at balance date it is recorded in the monies held in trust—
liability account on the statement of financial position.

(g) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which comprise amounts due from the provision of services provided to tenants, are recognised and carried at 
original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectable amounts.

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the debts. 
Bad debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off.
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(h) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment and buildings are depreciated over their useful lives to the Company commencing from the 
time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic lives of the 
assets as follows:

Asset class Depreciation rate
Leasehold improvements 6 - 40 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3 - 5 years 

Computer equipment and software 1-5 years

Plant and Equipment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable 
amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is used 
to determine value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an item of plant and equipment less, 
where applicable, accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost.

(i) Investment Property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, used in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes. Investment 
property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change recognised through the Profit and 
Loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed 
investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment 
property to a working condition for its intended use, and capitalised borrowing costs.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and 
the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss. When an investment property that was previously classified as 
property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

All Homes North owned properties were reclassified as Investment Property effective 1 July 2012 as it was determined that the 
use of the properties had changed.  Should the use of a property change again such that it is reclassified as property, plant and 
equipment its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

The rationale for reclassification of property, initially recognised as Property Plant and equipment (“PP&E”)AASB 116, as investment 
property under the investment property standard AASB 140 follows. 

The term investment property is an accounting term and is not to be interpreted as a literal true investment.

One of the key goals of the vesting agreement with Housing NSW is to build a portfolio of assets to leverage additional finance for 
further investment in social and affordable housing. It was determined that this key goal changed the overall underlying use of the 
housing properties. 

The initial use of the properties was: 

“to provide affordable, secure and appropriate housing across the country to individuals and families on low to 
moderate incomes and to those people who face difficulty in securing affordable accommodation through the 
private rental market.”



Under this use the properties were property recorded as PP&E under AASB 116.6 and AASB 140 Aus 9.1.

The change in use occurred upon enactment of the Housing NSW Vested assets agreement which extended the primary use of the 
property portfolio to:

• Increase the supply of affordable and social housing;

• Allow strategic management of assets to better meet the future housing demand;

• To provide a secure asset base to leverage additional finance for investment in social and affordable housing.

The extension of the primary use of the property portfolio shows that the objective of ownership is for capital appreciation and 
future investment in community housing property. The rental of those properties to low income earners furthers this objective 
and is not only for the purpose of providing a social service but to increase the supply through further investment.  Therefore it 
is considered that AASB 140 AUS 9.1 does not apply to Homes North for the purpose of these transactions and that there was a 
change in use of the property portfolio at that time.

Further detailed disclosures regarding the application of this policy are contained in the notes to the financial statements.

Fair value
Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic, but at least triennial valuation by external independent 
valuers.

In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation the directors conduct a directors’ 
valuations to ensure the carrying amount of the land and buildings is not materially different to fair value.  

Fair values are based on the market values. Market value is defined as being the estimated amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after property 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly.

(j) Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, 
are capitalised at inception of the lease at fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income. The fair value of the leases is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market 
interest rates. The carrying value of the leases is considered a reasonable reflection of fair value.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.

(k) Trade creditors and other payables
Trade payables and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid. These amounts are usually settled in 30 days. The notional amount of the creditors and payables is 
deemed to reflect fair value.

(l) Unspent project funds
The liability for unspent Government grants is the unutilised amounts of funding received on the condition that specific conditions 
are fulfilled. It is anticipated that the conditions will be fulfilled within twelve months of balance date. Accordingly the amounts have 
not been discounted.

(m)  Income received in advance
The liability for income received in advance consists of tied project funding received in the current or previous financial year 
relating to services to be provided in a future financial year.
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(n) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee 
benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and personal leave are recognised as a part of 
current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.  

Other long-term employee benefits
The company classifies employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements as other long-term employee benefits as they 
are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render 
the related service. Provision is made for the company’s obligation for other long-term employee benefits, which are measured at 
the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated 
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference 
to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of 
the obligations. Upon the re-measurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is 
recognised in profit or loss classified under employee benefits expense.

The company’s obligations for long-term employee entitlements are presented as non-current liabilities in its statement of financial 
position, except where the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current liabilities.  

Retirement benefit obligations - Defined contribution superannuation entitlements
All employees of the company receive defined contribution superannuation entitlements, for which the company pays the 
fixed superannuation guarantee contribution (currently 9.5% of the employee’s average ordinary salary) to the employee’s 
superannuation fund of choice. All contributions in respect of employees’ defined contribution entitlements are recognised as an 
expense when they become payable. The company’s obligation with respect to employees’ defined contribution entitlements is 
limited to its obligation for any unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions at the end of the reporting period. All obligations 
for unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 
obligation is settled and are presented as current liabilities in the company’s statement of financial position.  

(o) Income tax
The Company has been classified as a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation and is 
therefore exempt from income tax, and holds deductible gift recipient status.  This exemption has been confirmed by the Australian 
Taxation Office.

(p) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office, in which case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part 
of an item of expense.

Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the Australian 
Taxation Office is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis.

The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from or payable to the 
Australian Taxation Office is classified as operating cash flows.

(q) Comparative figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the 
current financial year.

(r) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best 
available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and 
economic data, obtained both externally and within the company.



Key estimates
Valuation of freehold land and buildings

The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2016 by MVS National Valuations and Property Consulting 
(Armidale and Tamworth). The valuations were based on the fair value less cost to sell. The critical assumptions adopted in 
determining the valuations included the location of the land and buildings, the current demand for land and buildings in the area and 
recent sales data for similar properties. The valuation resulted in a revaluation increment of $994,202 being recognised in the profit 
and loss for the year ended 30 June 2016.

At 30 June 2016, the directors performed a directors’ valuation on the freehold land and buildings that were not independently 
valued. The directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuer in 2016 and believe that changes in each location 
can be extrapolated over the remaining portfolio in that area.  On this basis the directors believe the carrying amount of the land and 
buildings correctly reflects the fair value less costs to sell at 30 June 2016.

Key judgements
Employee benefits

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) defines obligations for short-term employee 
benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related services. The company expects that most employees will use their annual leave entitlements in the 
same year in which they are earned or during the 12-month period that follows.  The directors believe that obligations for annual 
leave entitlements satisfy the definition of short-term employee benefits and, therefore, are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts 
expected to be paid when the obligation is settled and are presented as current liabilities in the company’s statement of financial 
position.  

(s) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
 The company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

(t) Intangibles
 Software

Software is recognised at cost of acquisition. Software has finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment losses. Software is amortised over its useful life which currently spans 1 - 5 years.  The current amortisation charges for 
intangible assets are included under depreciation expense per the income statement.

(u) Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Error
In previous years, equity planned maintenance reserve provisions were expended through the profit and loss and actual planned 
maintenance expenditure offset against the equity reserve account.  The Company has reviewed this policy and has agreed to adopt 
equity reserve accounting standards in relation to the planned maintenance reserve.  Accordingly in the current year actual planned 
maintenance expenditure has been recognised in the profit and loss.  Other debtors have also been split out from Trade debtors 
and receivables and correctly classified in the current year.  As a result of these amendments and in accordance with AASB 108 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors the prior period accounts have been restated. What follows is the 
result of the restatement.

80 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Original 
2015
($)

Effect of 
Restatement

($)

2015
($)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Tenancy and Property Mangement expenses 5,691,464 63,243 5,628,221

Surplus before income tax expense 1,739,771 (63,244) 1,803,015

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and Other Receiveables 319,628 28,251 291,377

Other Assets 0 (28,251) 28,251

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 319,628 0 319,628

TOTAL ASSETS 0 0 319,628

NET ASSETS 0 0 0

EQUITY

Reserves 1,096,720 0 1,096,720

Retained earnings 37,559,406 0 37,559,406

TOTAL EQUITY 38,656,126 0 38,656,126

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 1 June 2014 36,853,111 0 36,853,111

Transfer to/(from) Reserves 63,244 63,244 0

Total comprehensive surplus 1,739,771 (63,244) 1,803,015

Balance at 30 June 2015 38,656,126 0 38,656,126



2. Revenue and other income
2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Revenue from:
Rental Income

Leasehold - rent 1,696,320 1,701,367
NBESP Property Transfer program - rent 2,063,856 1,957,532
Owned—Homes North Owned Housing—rent 268,933 273,699
Capital Transitional - rent 299,971 297,828
Housing NSW Affordable Housing - rent 285,480 249,102
Capital properties - rent 3,764,496 3,613,258
Other rental income Nil 7,020

Total Rental income 8,379,056 8,099,806

Government funding 1,220,838 1,172,436
Tenancy management – fee for service 151,889 126,500
Capital Grants 3,279 11,400
Interest income 13,012 14,258
Other revenue 6,724 5,513
Profit/Loss on sale of fixed assets 12,727 4,091

Total Revenue 9,787,525 9,434,004

3. Cash and cash equivalents
2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Tamworth account 17,383 2,542
Glen Innes account 2,537 480
Inverell account 4,410 45,137
Gunnedah account 7,346 527
Cash management accounts 1,544,959 568,360
Monies held in trust 0 1,681
Cash clearing accounts 0 7,720
Petty cash and floats 1270 1,250

1,577,905 627,697

(a) All accounts carry normal terms and conditions and are reviewed by the directors on a regular basis to maximise income from interest. 

4. Trade and other receivables
2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Rental and trade debtors 1,470,145 590,443
Net GST receivable 80,413 54,829
Less: provision for impairment (645,679) (353,895)

904,879 291,377
No specific collection issues have been identified. 
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5. Other assets
2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Unaccounted Cash receipts (2,752) (2,523)
Prepayments 70,467 18,617
Security deposits 12,157 12,157

79,872 28,251

6. Property, plant and equipment
2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Leasehold improvements - at cost 221,442 221,442
Less: accumulated depreciation (47,934) (38,872)

173,508 182,570
Motor Vehicles - at cost 194,545 177,170
Less: accumulated depreciation (56,362) (79,311)

138,183 97,859
Office equipment - at cost 295,913 231,827
Less: accumulated depreciation (199,278) (167,306)

96,635 64,521
408,326 344,949

(a) Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the current financial year.

Leasehold 
improvements

($)

Motor 
Vehicles 

($)

Office 
Equipment 

($)

Total

($)

Carrying Amount at 1 July 2014 182,569 97,859 64,521 344,949
  Additions 51,112 64,086 115,198
  Less: Disposals Nil (46,465) Nil (46,465)
  Less: Depreciation (9,062) 22,949 (31,972) (18,085)
  Add Profit on sale 0 12,727 0 12,727
Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 173,507 138,182 96,635 408,324

7. Intangibles
Intangibles - Software - at cost 155,795 117,458
Less: accumulated depreciation (58,881) (27,603)
 96,914 89,855

(a) Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, intangibles between the beginning and end of the current financial year.  

Software ($)

Carrying Amount at 1 July 2014 89,855
  Additions 38,337
  Less: Disposals Nil
  Less: Depreciation (31,278)

  Add Profit on sale 0

Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 96,914

 



8. Investment Property
 H N Owned  H N Owned Received under Total 
 WIP Properties NBESP
   - Restricted-
 ($) ($) ($) ($)

Balance at 1 July 2015 18,485 5,847,226 32,963,477 38,829,188
Purchased 296,739 Nil Nil 296,739

Change in Fair Value—based on June 15 Indep Valuation Nil 115,003 879,199 994,202

Balance at 30 June 2015 315,224 5,962,229 33,842,676 40,120,129

  Asset Revaluations
The company obtains independent valuations of its investment property portfolio on a triennial basis and at the end of each reporting 
period the financial statements reflect the most up to date valuation.  The best evidence of fair value is considered to be the current 
price in an active market for similar assets.  The following information is used where necessary: current prices in an active market for 
different types of properties or similar property’s in a less active market.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis who have experience in 
the location of the property.  On an annual basis the directors review the valuation reports and extrapolate these valuations across the 
remaining portfolio taking into account fluctuations influenced by location.

As at 30 June 2016 the valuation of the investment property portfolio was performed by MVS National Valuations and Property 
Consulting (Armidale/Tamworth).  The directors then performed a directors' valuation on the remaining two thirds of NBESP restricted 
land and buildings.  The directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuers in 2016 and believe that the average 
increment in each location can be applied across the remaining portfolio.  This valuation process resulted in a revaluation increment of 
$994,202 being recognised in the revaluation surplus for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Refer to Fair Value Measurements Note 22 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s land and 
buildings. 

Properties received under Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan
o Homes North became entitled to 250 dwellings under Stage 2 of the NSW Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan “NBESP”. 

The title to 122 of these units (first instalment) vested to Homes North in April 2011.  The second instalment, 128 units vested to 
Homes North in January 2014. The first instalment of these properties was initially classified as Property Plant and Equipment. 
In July 2013 the Board reclassified these properties under the AASB 140 Investment Property accounting standard.  This 
reclassification aligned the use of the portfolio of all existing properties to the Company’s long term strategy. Properties 
vested under the NBESP agreement are determined to be restricted investment properties as Homes North are required to:

o Deliver property and management services to clients eligible for public housing, including people with high-level housing 
needs; and

o Allocate the accommodation to particular client groups in accordance with specified target quotas; and
o Use the properties to leverage financial resources in partnership with private sector institutions; and
o Use those resources to create additional affordable housing targeted towards low to moderate income households 

experiencing housing stress.

84 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Recognition in Statement of Financial Position
Homes North has recognised the properties received under the NBESP grant as investment properties in its statement of financial 
position. In line with the company’s strategic purposes these properties will be used for earning rental income and for capital 
appreciation purposes. This will maximise the company’s ability to reinvest future economic benefits flowing from these properties back 
into social and affordable housing. The agreement requires that these properties be used to leverage financial resources in partnership 
with private sector institutions to support future growth of the social housing sector.

Restriction on Assets
All properties received under the NBESP grant are classified as restricted assets because they can only be used for social housing 
purposes (per the tender guidelines of NBESP which governs the use of these properties by social housing providers.).  Should these 
properties be sold proceeds from the sale of these properties must be re-invested back into properties used for social housing purposes.  
To ensure this intention is honoured there is a caveat on each of the titles requiring permission from Housing NSW before a sale can take 
place.

Repairs and Maintenance Obligations—Impairment
Homes North is required to set aside sufficient resources to meet scheduled repairs and maintenance obligations. Accordingly, $1,500 
less actual amounts spent, per property is set aside each year and transferred to the planned maintenance equity reserve.  This balance 
is carried forward as a restricted planned maintenance equity reserve and actual planned maintenance repairs are charged to the profit 
and Loss. This restricted planned maintenance reserve aims to ensure that Homes North has capacity to meet the cost of significant 
capital upgrades and maintenance when required, and maintain buildings at or above the required asset standard.

9. Trade and other payables

 2016 2015
Current ($) ($)

Trade creditors 360,896 401,080

Accrued expenses 142,928 118,343

 503,824 519,423

10. Borrowings
 2016 2015
Current ($) ($)

Credit Card Facility 4,999 257,600

Loan Facility 1,000,000 Nil

 1,004,999 257,600

 
There is a credit card facility with a limit of $25,000 (with unused facility of $20,001) at 30 June 2016.  In addition the Company has a $2 million 
loan facility.  This facility has an initial limit of $2 million with in principle approval to increase this limit to $3 million.  The loan facility is secured by 
a general fixed and floating charge over the company’s assets and first mortgages over Homes North owned properties. 



11. Employee Benefits—Provisions
2016 2015

($) ($)

(a) Current
Employee Benefits - Annual Leave

280,044 286,731
(b) Non Current
Employee Benefits - Long Service Leave

132,997 99,415

413,041 386,146

  Provision employee benefits
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued 
for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based 
on past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as 
current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since 
the company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use 
their leave entitlement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested 
in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service.
In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being 
taken is based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits are discussed in Note 1(n).

12. Other Liabilites
 2016 2015
 ($) ($)

Monies held in trust 188,593 (1,681)

Less Balance of TLALC Bank Account (20,625) Nil

Bonds charged to tenants 130,463 Nil

Less Bonds Held (42,989) 11,484

Provision for unclaimed monies 2,542 2,542

Tenant rent in advance 421,116 310,918

Unearned income 38,011 68,760

 717,111 392,023

13. Total funds
Details of the movement in each reserve and fund are provided in the Statement of Changes in equity.

General Fund
The general reserve represents the funds of the Company that are not designed for particular purposes.

Planned maintenance reserve
$1,302,714 has been set aside in a planned maintenance reserve fund to meet the commitments of the Company’s asset 
maintenance plan. The Company must meet the planned maintenance obligations of 714 capital properties (2015, 703).
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14. Members’ guarantee
The Company is limited by guarantee. In the event of the Company being wound up, the constitution requires members to make a maximum 
contribution of $1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2016 the number of members was 15 (2015 
was 13 members).

15. Capital and Leasing Commitments
(a) Operating Leases Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements 

 2016 2015
 ($) ($)

Payable—minimum lease payments  

Not later than 12 months 91,550 89,330

Later than 12 month but not later than five years 144,716 158,280

Later than 5 years Nil Nil

 236,266 247,610

The property lease commitments are non-cancellable operating leases on 5 offices contracted for but not capitalised in the 
financial statements, with increases in rent either in line with the Consumer Price Index or 4% whichever is greater. 

16. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
(a) Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2016 work orders estimated at $400,000 have been issued to contractors for work to be completed after 30 June 
2016. 

(b) Capital commitments
The Company has committed to purchase and/or develop a minimum of 30 properties over the next 10 years under an agreement 
with Land and Housing NSW as part of a title transfer program. During the financial year, the Company settled a contract to 
purchase of a block of land in Armidale.  A Development application to build six 2 and 3 bedroom units was made to council and 
a contract totalling $1.8million with a developer was signed to complete the construction of these units.   As at 30 June 2016, 
building had commenced and it is expected that the project will be complete by the end of October and be ready for occupation in 
December 2016.  This project is being funded by a combination of retained earnings and loan finance borrowings.  (Refer financial 
risk management note 20 for further details.)

This will bring the total properties purchased as part of the leveraged asset commitment to 25.  

17. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.



18. Key Management Personnel Compensation
Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is considered key management personnel. 
The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the company during the year are as follows:

 2016 2015
 ($) ($)

Key management personnel compensation 692,313 599,894

19. Related parties and related party transactions
(a) Directors
No payments were made to a related party

(b) Transactions with Director-related entities
No director of the Company has, since the end of the previous financial year, received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related entity with the director or with a firm which the 
member is a director, or with an entity in which the director has a substantial financial interest. There are no amounts 
payable to/or receivable from directors or director-related entities at reporting date.

20. Financial Risk Management
(a) General objectives, policies and processes
The company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and leases.    
Accounts receivable includes social housing rental debts owing from both current tenants and ex tenants.  The main risks 
arising from the company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, credit risk and market price risk. 

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for risk management, including risks associated with financial 
instruments. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks associated with the company’s 
financial instruments, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. The 
Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s risk management policies 
and processes and regularly reviewing risk management policies and systems, taking into account changes in market 
conditions and the company’s activities. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for developing and monitoring 
investment policies. 

This note presents information about the company’s exposure to liquidity, credit and market price risk and its objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements. 
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(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to fund its obligations as they fall due.

The Company is not significantly exposed to this risk as it has sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet these 
obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows and ensuring it has sufficient cash reserves and borrowings 
available to fund its obligations as they fall due.

Financing Arrangements

The Company has the following unused borrowing facilities as at reporting date:
2016 

($)
2015 

($)

Corporate Debt Facility 2,000 1,750

Maturities of Financial Liabilities
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including estimated interest payments:

Carrying
Amount

(discounted)
$000

Contractual
Cash Flows

(undiscounted)
$000

6 months
or less
$000

6-12
months
$000

1-2 years
$000

2-5 years
$000

More than
5 years
$000

At 30 June 2016

Trade and other payables 504 504 504 - - - -

Borrowings 1,005 1,255 30 25 50 150 1000

Total Financial liabilities 1,509 1,759 534 25 50 150 1000

At 30 June 2015

Trade and other payables 519 519 519 - - - -

Borrowings 258 321 14 6 13 38 250

Total Financial liabilities 777 840 533 6 13 38 250

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  The company is exposed to two sources of credit risks: 1) amounts receivable in respect to tenants and ex 
tenants residing in affordable and social housing provided by the Company; 2) Counterparty risk in respect of funds deposited with 
banks and other financial institutions. 

The majority of trade and other receivables relates to amounts receivable in relation to rental and non-rental debts from tenants 
and ex tenants which are followed up. The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each client. The majority of clients are social housing tenants with a small proportion presenting high risk of rental default. To 
mitigate this risk the company employs specialist social housing tenancy management staff.  The company has a diverse range of 
clients with properties located throughout various North Western regional NSW communities.  Some amounts receivable are due from 
Government departments.

Funds are deposited only with those banks and financial institutions approved by the Board.  At the reporting date the company did 
have a material credit risk exposure to a big four Australian bank.

2016 
($000)

2015 
($000)

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,578 628
Trade and other receivables 985 320

2,563 948

Trade and other receivables are analysed in Note 4



Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, will affect 
the company’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

The company has one source of market price risk which is fluctuations in interest rates.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its cash at bank and variable rate loan facilities. 

The following table summarises the interest rate profile of the company’s interest-bearing financial instruments:

Variable Rate instruments Note 2016
($000)

2015
($000)

Cash at Bank and in hand 3 1,578 628

Borrowings 10 1,005 (258)
573 370

Sensitivity Analysis
A 1% decrease in interest rates and 0.25% increase in interest rates has been determined to be a reasonable possible movement 
in interest rates over a 12 month period based on information from various financial institutions, review of movements over the 
last two years and economic forecaster’s expectations.  If this change had occurred at the reporting date it would with all other 
variables held constant have increased or decreased the company’s surplus and funds by the amounts shown below:

0.25%
increase
($000)

1%
(decrease)

($000)

0.25%
increase
($000)

1%
(decrease)

($000)

2016
Variable rate instruments

1.43 (5.73) 1.43 (5.73)

2015
Variable rate instruments

0.93 (3.70) 0.93 (3.70)

21. Economic dependency
The Company is economically dependent upon ongoing long term contracts with, and minor grant funding from the 
NSW State Government. Should this funding or contracts be withdrawn the Company may not be able to continue all 
of the projects currently in operation.

90 HNCH Annual Report 2015/2016



FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

22. Fair Value Measurements
The company has the following assets, as set out in the table below, that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
after their initial recognition. The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis 
and has no assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

The table below details the company's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access at the 
measurement date.
             
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.
             
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Note Level 1 Level 2
($) ($)

Recurring fair value measurements
Investment Properties

  Freehold land and Buildings - Unrestricted 8 (i) 5,962,229 Nil
  Freehold land and Buildings - Restricted 8 (i) Nil 33,842,676

(i) Freehold land and buildings - restricted, fair values are determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis 
who have experience in the location of the property.  On an annual basis the directors review the valuation reports 
and apply these valuations across the remaining portfolio taking into account fluctuations influenced by location.  Any 
properties purchased during the financial year are independently valued at the end of that financial year.



Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Limited, the directors of 
the company declare that:

1. The Financial Statements and notes as set out on pages 1 to 34 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 
regulations, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits Commission Act 2012, and the Australian Charities and 
Not for Profits Regulations 2013:

a. Comply with Australian Accounting Standards—Reduced Disclosure Requirements; and

b. Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2016 and of its performance for the 
year ended on that date.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.  In forming this opinion the directors have given due consideration 
to the Economic Dependency note (refer note 21).

Signed in accordance with the resolution of directors. 

Josephine Heslin (Chair) Rex Gream (Director) 

Dated this 18th day of October 2016
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Independent Audit Report – Crowe Horwath

Crowe Horwath Central North 
ABN 91 680 058 554 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

90 Rusden Street 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 
PO Box 660 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 

Tel 02 6776 5100  
Fax 02 6772 9492 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 
ABN 78 014 531 758 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Homes North Community Housing Company 
Ltd, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the directors' declaration. 

Directors Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Crowe Horwath Central North  is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 
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ABN 91 680 058 554 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

90 Rusden Street 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 
PO Box 660 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 

Tel 02 6776 5100  
Fax 02 6772 9492 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act). We confirm that the independence 
declaration required by the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), 
which has been given to the directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd on 9 
November 2016, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s 
report. 

Audit Opinion 

In our opinion the financial report of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd is in accordance 
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

 (a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 

Crowe Horwath Central North 

Kylie Ellis 
Partner 
90 Rusden St  
Armidale NSW 2350 
Dated: 15 November 2016 

Crowe Horwath Central North  is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 
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